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Independent Auditors’ Report 

(110) Cai-Shen-Bao-Zih No. 21002066 

 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 

Sofiva Genomics Co., Ltd. 

 

Introduction 

We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sofiva Genomics Co., Ltd. and 
subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) as at September 30, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income for the quarters ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 and as at September 30, 2021 and 2020, the 
consolidated statements of changes in equity and of cash flows as at September 30, 2021 and 2020, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. Management is 
responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
the ‘Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers’ and International Accounting 
Standard 34, ‘Interim Financial Reporting’ as endorsed by the Financial Supervisory Commission. Our 
responsibility is to express a conclusion on these consolidated financial statements based on our reviews.  

 

Scope of Review 

Except as explained in the following paragraph, we conducted our reviews in accordance with the Statement 
of Auditing Standards No. 65 ‘Review of Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity’ 
in the Republic of China. A review of consolidated financial statements consists of making inquiries, primarily of 
persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A 
review is substantially less in scope than an audit and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we 
would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express 
an audit opinion. 

 

Basis for Qualified Conclusion 

As explained in Notes 4(3) and 6(4), we did not review the financial statements of certain insignificant 
consolidated subsidiaries and investments accounted for under the equity method, which statements reflect total 
assets as at September 30, 2021 and 2020 (including investments accounted for under the equity method) of 
NT$326,988 thousand and NT $302,233 thousand, constituting 43.410% and 41.18% of the consolidated total assets, 
and total liabilities of NT$12,092 thousand and NT$10,931 thousand, constituting 6.50% and 5.69% of the 
consolidated total liabilities as at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively; and total comprehensive income 
(including other comprehensive income accounted for under the equity method) of NT$8,541 thousand, NT$1,908 
thousand, NT$20,800 thousand and NT$9,542 thousand, constituting 60.11%, 34.65%, 49.01% and 40.34% of the 
consolidated total comprehensive income (loss) for the quarters ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, and as at 
September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 



 

- 5 - 

 
 

 

 

 

Conclusion 

Except for the adjustments to the consolidated financial statements, if any, as might have been determined to 
be necessary had the financial statements of certain insignificant subsidiaries and investments accounted for under 
the equity method been reviewed by independent accounts, that we might have been aware of had it not been for 
the situation described above, based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that 
the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at September 30, 2021 and 2020, its consolidated financial performance for the 
quarters ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 and as at September 30, 2021 and 2020, and its consolidated cash 
flows as at September 30, 2021 and 2020 in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial 
Reports by Securities Issuers and International Accounting Standard 34, ‘Interim Financial Reporting’ as endorsed 
by the Financial Supervisory Commission.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Taiwan 

Independent Accountants Hsiao Chun-yuan 

Huang Shih-chun 

Former Securities and Futures Bureau, Financial Supervisory Commission, Executive Yuan 

Approval No.: Jin-Guan-Jheng-Liou-Zih No. 0960042326 

Financial Supervisory Commission 

Approval No.: Jin-Guan-Jheng-Shen-Zih No. 1050029449 

Date: November 10, 2021 
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Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
 Consolidated Balance Sheets 

September 30, 2021, December 31, 2020 and September 30, 2020 
(The consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2020 and 2021 are reviewed, not audited in conformity with the ROC 

GAAS) 
 (Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars) 

 
     September 30, 2021  December 31, 2020  September 30, 2020 
 Assets  Notes  Amount  %  Amount  %  Amount  % 
        

 Current assets             

1100 Cash and cash equivalents 6(1) $ 195,838  26  $ 188,849  25  $ 163,505    22 

1136 
Current financial assets at 
Amortized cost 6(1) 30,200  4  30,200  4  30,200  4 

1140 Current contract assets 6(14) and 7(2) 8,851  1  6,456  1  4,959  1 

1150 Notes receivable, net 6(2) 5,827  1  7,580  1  11,678  2 

1170 Accounts receivable, net 6(2) 50,175  7  45,048  6  41,257  6 

1180 
Accounts receivable due from 
related parties, net 6(2) and 7(2) 3,121  -  3,235  1  15,754  2 

1200 Other receivable  22  -  12  -  22  - 

1220 Current income tax assets 6(19) 3,701  1  2,950  -  3,948  1 

130X Inventories 6(3) 38,881  5  50,108  7  36,775  5 

1410 Prepayments  7,808  1  8,022  1  10,984  1 

1470 Other current assets  1,864  -  1,177  -  1,399  - 

11XX Total current assets  346,288  46  343,637  46  320,481  44 

 
Non-current assets 

            

1550 
Investments accounted for under the 
equity method 6(4) 246,642  33  229,736  31  223,757  30 

1600 Property, plant and equipment 6(5) 49,178  6  59,337  8  66,253  9 

1755 Right-of-use assets 6(6) 88,327  12  100,622  13  104,672  14 

1780 Intangible assets  6,615  1  3,781  -  4,395  1 

1840 Deferred income tax assets 6(19) 8,733  1  8,578  1  8,352  1 

1920 Guarantee deposits paid  6,196  1  5,892  1  5,872  1 

1990 Other non-current assets - others  1,512  -  -  -  83  - 

15XX Total non-current assets  407,203  54  407,946  54  413,384  56 

1XXX Total assets  $ 753,491  100  $ 751,583  100  $ 733,865  100 

 

(to next page) 
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Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. and Subsidiaries 

 Consolidated Balance Sheets 

September 30, 2021, December 31, 2020 and September 30, 2020 
(The consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2020 and 2021 are reviewed, not audited in conformity with the ROC 

GAAS) 

Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars) 

     September 30, 2021  December 31, 2020  September 30, 2020 
 Liabilities and equity  Notes  Amount  %  Amount  %  Amount  %  

Liabilities      

Current liabilities      

2130 Current contract liabilities 6(14) $ 3,158 1 $ 3,247 -  $ 2,540 -

2150 Notes payable  969 - 1,409 -  888 -

2160 Notes payable to related parties 7(2) 2,642 - 2,512 -  2,950 -

2170 Accounts payable  38,295 5 43,111 6  35,306 5

2180 Accounts payable to related parties 7(2) 2,722 1 3,411 1  3,117 1

2200 Other payables 6(7) 38,597 5 37,988 5  38,022 5

2230 Current income tax liabilities 6(19) 3,522 1 - -  - -

2250 Current provisions 6(8) 1,338 - 1,386 -  70 -

2280 Current lease liabilities  15,100 2 15,447 2  15,370 2

2300 Other current liabilities  1,914 - 1,547 -  1,507 -

21XX Total current liabilities  108,257 15 110,058 14  99,770 13

 Non-current liabilities     

2550 Non-current provisions 6(8) 3,040 - 3,037 1  3,019 1

2570 Deferred income tax liabilities  - - 20 -  - -

2580 Non-current lease liabilities  74,703 10 85,653 11  89,455 12

2600 Other non-current liabilities  - - 2 -  2 -

25XX Total non-current liabilities  77,750 10 88,712 12  92,476 13

2XXX Total liabilities  186,007 25 198,770 26  192,246 26

 Equity attributable to owners of parent     

 Share capital 6(11)    

3110 Common stock  212,616 28 212,616 28  212,192 29

 Capital surplus 6(12)    

3200 Capital surplus  286,318 38 284,324 38  283,574 39

 Retained earnings 6(13)    

3310 Legal reserve  24,509 3 21,124 3  21,124 3

3350 Unappropriated retained earnings  43,801 6 33,954 5  24,032 3

 Other equity interest     

3400 Other equity interest  (        5) - 341 -  199 -
31XX 
 

Total equity attributable to owners 
of parent  567,239 75 552,359 74  541,121 74

36XX Non-controlling interests  245 - 454 -  498 -

3XXX Total equity  567,484 75 552,813 74  541,619 74

 

Significant contingent liabilities and 
unrecognized contractual 
commitments 9    

 
Significant events after reporting 
period 11    

3X2X Total liabilities and equity  $ 753,491 100 $ 751,583 100  $ 733,865 100

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. Please also refer thereto. 

 

Chairman: Su Yi-ning General Manager: Hung Chia-cheng Accounting Manager: Chang Fu-chien 
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Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

As at September 30, 2021 and 2020  
(Reviewed, not audited in conformity with the ROC GAAS) 

(Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars,  

except for earnings per share amount) 

     
For the quarter ended 
September 30, 2021  

For the quarter ended 
September 30, 2020  

As at September 30, 
 2021  

As at September 30, 
2020 

 Items  Notes  Amount  %  Amount  %  Amount  %  Amount  % 
4000 

Operating revenue 
 6(14) and 

7(2) 
 

$ 125,253 100 $ 123,062 100
 

$ 383,090 100 $ 365,260 100
5000 

Operating costs 
 6(3) (17) 

and 7(2) 
 

(  81,961) (    65) (  87,804) (  72) ( 248,233) (  65) ( 254,239) (  70)
5900 Net operating margin   43,292 35 35,258 28 134,857 35 111,021 30
 Operating expenses  6(17)              
6100 Selling expenses   (  12,750) (    10)  (  12,295) (  10) (  37,318) (  10) ( 37,167) (  10)
6200 General and administrative 

expenses 
 

 (  20,645) (   16)  (  16,858) (  14) (  59,867) (  15) ( 51,963) (  14)
6300 Research and development 

expenses 
 

 (  2,084) (    2) (  2,162) (  2) (  8,884) (  2) (  6,074) (  2)
6450 Expected credit impairment 

gain (loss) 
 

12(2) 
 

  491 -     453 1   545 -      367 -
6000 Total operating expenses    (  34,988) (   28) (  30,862) (  25) (  105,524) (  27) ( 94,837) (  26)
6900 Operating profit    8,304 7 4,396 3 29,333 8   16,184 4
 Non-operating income and 

expenses 
 

 
         

7100 Interest income  6(15)  65 - 77 - 253 - 322 -
7010 Other income    118 - 62 - 453 - 326 -
7020 Other gains and losses    (     646) (    1) (    240) - (  1,761) (      1) (  383) -
7050 Finance costs  6(16)  (     425) - (    495) - (  1,332) - (  1,489) -
7060 Share of profit or loss of 

associates and joint ventures 
accounted for under equity 
method 

 

6(4) 

 

8,706 7 2,600 2

 

21,423 6   11,508   3
7000 Total non-operating 

income and expenses 
 

 
 

7,818 6 2,004 2
 

19,036   5   10,284 3
7900 Profit before income tax    16,122 13 6,400 5 48,369 13 26,468 7
7950 Income tax expense  6(19)  (  1,827) (    2) (    653) (      1) (  5,541) (  2) (  2,133) (  1)
8200 Profit for the period    $   14,295 11 $   5,747 4 $  42,828   11 $  24,335   6
 Other comprehensive income 

(loss) 
 

 
         

    
 Components of other 

comprehensive income (loss) 
that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss 

 

 

         

    
8361 
 

Financial statements translation 
differences of foreign 
operations 

 

 ($     95) - ($   241) - ($ 384) - ($ 679) -
8399 
 

Income tax related to 
components that may be 
reclassified 

 
6(19) 
 

 

8 - - - (  1)   -   -   -
8360 
 

Total of components that 
may be reclassified to 
profit or loss 

 

 

 

(      87) - (    241) - (  385)   - (  679) -
8300 Other comprehensive income 

(loss), net 
 

 
 

($     87) - ($   241) - ($ 385)   - ($ 679) -
8500 Total comprehensive income 

(loss) for the period 
 

 
 

($ 14,208) 11 $  5,506 4 ($ 42,443)   11 ($23,656) 6
 Profit attributable to:     
8610 Owners of the parent    ($ 14,398) 11 $  5,854 4 ($ 42,998)   11 ($24,686) 6
8620 Non-controlling interests    ($   130) - ($  107) - ($  170)   - ($  351)   -
 Comprehensive income 

attributable to: 
 

 
 

 
8710 Owners of the parent    $  14,320 11 $  5,637 4 $  42,652 11 $  24,076   6
8720 Non-controlling interests    ($   112) - ($   131) - ($    209)   - ($  420)   -
 Earnings per share     
9750 Basic profit for the period  6(20)  $              0.68 $                0.28 $               2.02 $             1.16 
9850 Diluted profit for the period  6(20)  $              0.67  $                0.27  $               2.01 $             1.16 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. Please also refer thereto. 

Chairman: Su Yi-ning General Manager: Hung Chia-cheng Accounting Manager: Chang Fu-chien 
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Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 

As at September 30, 2021 and 2020 
 (Reviewed, not audited in conformity with the ROC GAAS) 

 (Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars) 
    Equity attributable to owners of the parent     

      Capital Surplus  Retained Earnings  
Other Equity 

Interest       

  Notes  

Shared 
capital – 
common 

stock  
Additional 

paid-in capital  

Changes in associates’ 
equity value 

recognized using the 
equity method  

Employee 
stock options  Others  Legal reserve  

Unappropriated 
earnings  

Exchange 
differences of 

foreign financial 
statements  Total  

Non-
controlling 

interest  Total equity 
As at September 30, 2020 

Balance at January 1, 2020    $  212,152  $    224,134  $                -  $  757  $ 30  $ 15,018  $ 61,378  $     809  $  514,278  $  918  $    515,196 
Profit for the period    - - - - -  -  24,686    - 24,686 ( 351 ) 24,335
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the 

period 

   
- - - - -  --  -  ( 610 )  ( 610 )  ( 69 )  (    679 ) 

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the 

period 

   
- - - - -   24,686  ( 610 ) 24,076 (      420) 23,656

Allocation and distribution of retained earnings at 

December 31, 2019 

 6(13)  
    

Legal reserve    - - - - -  6,106 (        6,106)  - -  - -
Cash dividends per ordinary share    - - - - -  - ( 55,170 )  - (  55,170 )  - (  55,170 )

Compensation cost for employee stock options  6(10)  - - - 1,194 -  - -  - 1,194  - 1,194 
Exercise of employee stock option  6(10)  40 34 - (        22) -  - -  - 52  - 52 
Changes in equity of associates accounted for using 

equity method due to the failure of subscribing new 

shares proportionately 

 6(4)  

- - 57,234 - -  - (    723 )  - 56,511  - 56,511
Changes in equity of associates accounted for 

using equity method due to the subscription of 

new shares proportionally 

 -  

- - 213 - -  - (          33)  -       180  - 180
Balance at September 30, 2020    $  212,192  $    224,168  $           57,447   $  1,929  $  30  $  21,124  $  24,032  $    199  $    541,121  $    498  $   541,619 

As at September 30, 2021 
Balance at January 1, 2021    $  212,616  $    224,468  $      57,447  $ 2,379  $  30  $  21,124  $  33,954  $     341  $   552,359  $   454  $   552,813 
Profit for the period    - - - - -  -  42,998    -  42,998  (       170)  42,828 
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the 

period 

   
- - - - -  -  -  (    346)  (  346)  (   39)  (  385) 

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the 

period 

   
- - - - -  -  42,998  (    346)  42,652  (  209)  42,443 

Allocation and distribution of Cash dividends per 

ordinary share at December 31, 2020 

 6(13)  
- - - -  -  - -  - - - -

   Legal reserve    - - - -  -  3,385 (   3,385)  - - - -
   Cash dividends per ordinary share    - - - -  -  - (  29,766)  - (     29,766) - (     29,766)
Compensation cost for employee stock options  6(10)  - - - 2,063 -  - -  - 2,063 - 2,063
Changes in equity of associates accounted for using 

equity method due to the failure of subscribing new 

shares proportionately 

   

- -  (              69)  - -  - -  - (         69) - (         69)
Balance at September 30, 2021    $  212,616  $    224,468  $      57,378  $ 4,442  $  30  $  24,509  $  43,801  ($      5)  $    567,239  $   245  $    567,484

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. Please also refer thereto. 
 
Chairman: Su Yi-ning    General Manager: Hung Chia-cheng                                  Accounting Manager: Chang Fu-chien 
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Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

As at September 30, 2021 and 2020 

(Reviewed, not audited in conformity with the ROC GAAS) 

(Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars)  
 Notes  As at September 30, 2021  As at September 30, 2020 
Cash flows from operating activities     

Profit before income tax for the period   $  48,369   26,468 
Adjustments      

Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss)      
Depreciation expense on property, plant and 
equipment and right-of-use assets 

6(17)   30,570   34,365 

        Amortized expense on intangible assets 6(17)   1,457   1,874 
        Expected credit impairment loss (gain) 12(2)  (       545)   (          367)  
        Interest expense 6(16)   1 ,332   1 ,489 
        Interest income 6(15)  ( 253)  (  322) 
        Compensation cost for employee stock options 6(10)   2 ,063   1 ,194 

         Share of profit or loss of associates accounted for 
under equity method 

6(4)  (  21,423)  (  11,508) 

   Net gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 

  -   (  2)  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities      
        Net changes in operating assets      
          Current contract assets   (  2 ,395)   1 ,292  
          Net notes receivable   1,753  3,450 
          Net accounts receivable   (  4 ,582)   5 ,034  
          Net accounts receivable from related parties    114  (  11,210) 
          Other receivables    21    679 
          Inventories    11 ,227  (  2 ,506) 
          Prepayments    196  (     2 ,300) 
          Other current assets   (  687)  (     909) 
          Other non-current assets    -    406  

Net changes in operating liabilities      
          Current contract liabilities   (             89)   (     16) 
          Notes payable   (  440)  831 
          Notes payable from related parties    130  (            167)  
          Accounts payable   (  4 ,816)   3 ,595  
          Accounts payable from related parties   (  689)  (  306) 
          Other payables   (  1 ,343)  (  5 ,200) 
          Current provisions   (  48)   (151) 
          Other current liabilities    367  27 

Cash inflow generated from operations    60,289  (  45,740) 
          Interest received    222   280 
          Interest paid   (  1 ,295)  (  1 ,447) 
          Income tax paid   (  3 ,309)  (  16,177) 
            Net cash flows from operating activities   55,907  (  28 ,396) 
Cash flows from investing activities      

Increase in financial assets measured at Amortized cost     -   (  30,200) 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 6(21)  (  6 ,153)  (  11,800) 
Disposal of property, plant and equipment   -   2 
Withdrawal of intangible assets   (  4 ,273)  (  450) 
Increase in other non-current assets   (           1 ,512)   -  
Increase in guarantee deposits paid   (  499)  (  596) 
Decrease in guarantee deposits paid    195   349  

 Dividends received   4,448  -  
           Net cash flows from investing activities    (           7 ,794)   (  42,695) 
Cash flows from financing activities       

Decrease in guarantee deposits received   (  2)    -  
Payment of lease liabilities 6(22)  (  11 ,654)  (  11,544) 
Dividends issued 6(22)  (          29 ,766)   (          55 ,170)  
Exercise of employee stock options    -    52 

Net cash flows used in financing activities   (  41 ,422)  (  66,662) 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes   298  (  493) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    6 ,989  (  81,454) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    188 ,849   244 ,959 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 195,838  $ 163,505 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. Please also refer thereto. 

Chairman: Su Yi-ning General Manager: Hung Chia-cheng Accounting Manager: Chang Fu-chien 
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Sofiva Genomics Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Quarters Ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 

 (Reviewed, not audited in conformity with the ROC GAAS) 
(Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars,  

unless otherwise specified) 

 

1. General Information (Note 1) 

(1) Sofiva Genomics Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Company’) was incorporated upon approval of 

the competent authority and started to operate on June15, 2012 in accordance with Company Act of the 

Republic of China. The Company and subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Group’) engages in the 

provision of pre-pregnancy, prenatal, and newborn genetic testing and medical inspection services. 

(2) In January 2017, the Company applied to Taipei Exchange (TPEx) for trading ordinary shares listed on 

the stock exchange. On January 22, 2018, the Company started to trade shares at TPEx as a listed company. 

 

2. Approval of Financial Statements 

The consolidated financial statements were approved and published by the board of directors on November 10, 

2021. 

 

3. Application of New, Amended and Revised Standards and Interpretations 

(1) Effects on the adoption of newly released or amended International Financial Reporting Standards 

(hereinafter referred to as IFRS) endorsed by the Financial Supervisory Commission (hereinafter referred 

to as FSC) 

The following table summarizes newly released, amended or revised IFRS standards and interpretations 

that are applicable in 2021 as endorsed by FSC:  

 

Newly released, amended or revised standards and interpretations 

 Effective date issued 

by IASB 

Extension of the Temporary Exemption from Applying IFRS 9 (Amendments 
to IFRS 4) 

 January 1, 2021 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform—Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, 
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS ) 

 January 1, 2021 

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16 ) 
Note: The applicability was advanced to January 1, 2021 upon approval of 
FSC 

 April 1, 2021 (Note) 

According to the Group’s evaluation, above standards and interpretations would not cause significant 
changes to the Group’s consolidated financial status and performance. 
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(2) Effects on the failure of adopting newly released or amended IFRS endorsed by FSC 

The following table summarizes newly released, amended or revised standards and interpretations of 

IFRS that have been issued by IASB and remain effective until 2022, as approved by FSC: 

Newly released, amended or revised standards and interpretations  Effective date 
issued by IASB 

Amendment to IFRS 3 ‘Reference to the Conceptual Framework’  January 1, 2022 

Amendment to IAS 16 ‘Property, plant and equipment Proceeds before 
intended use’ 

 January 1, 2022 

Amendment to IAS 37 ‘Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a 
Contract’ 

 January 1, 2022 

‘Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020’  January 1, 2022 
 

According to the Group’s evaluation, above standards and interpretations would not cause significant 

changes to the Group’s consolidated financial status and performance. 

 

 

(3) Effects on IFRS that have been issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) without being 

endorsed by FSC. 

The following table summarizes newly released, amended or revised standards and interpretations of 
IFRS that have been issued by IASB without being endorsed by FSC. 

 
 

Newly released, amended or revised standards and interpretations  Effective date 
issued by IASB 

Amendment to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 ‘Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture’ 

 To be finalized 
by IASB 

‘Insurance Contract’ of IFRS 17   January 1, 2023 

Amendment to IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contract’  January 1, 2023 

Amendment to IAS 1 ‘Classifying liabilities as current or non-current’  January 1, 2023 

Amendment to IAS 1 ‘Disclosure of Accounting Policies’  January 1, 2023 

Amendment to IAS 8 ‘Definition of Accounting Estimates’  January 1, 2023 

Amendments to IAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 
arising from a Single Transaction “ 

 January 1, 2023 

 

According to the Group’s evaluation, above standards and interpretations would not cause significant 

changes to the Group’s consolidated financial status and performance. 

 

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set 

out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. 
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(1) Compliance statement  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the ‘Regulations Governing 

the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers’ and IFRS’s ‘IAS 34 Interim Financial 

Reporting’.  

(2) Basis of preparation  

A. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

B. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting 

Standards, International Accounting Standards, IFRIC Interpretations and SIC Interpretations as 

endorsed by the FSC (collectively referred herein as the ‘IFRSs’) requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of 

applying the Group’s accounting policy. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 

complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial 

statements are disclosed in Note 5 

(3) Basis of consolidation 

A. Basis for preparation of consolidated financial statements  

a. All subsidiaries are included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. Subsidiaries re 

all entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity 

when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 

entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Consolidation 

of the subsidiaries begins from the date the Group obtains control of the subsidiaries and ceases 

when the Group loses control of the subsidiaries. 

b. Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains or losses on transactions between 

companies within the Group are eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 

adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

c. Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners 

of the parent and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to 

the owners of the parent and to non-controlling interests even if this result in the non-controlling 

interests having a deficit balance. 

B. Subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements:  

Investor 

 

Name of the 
subsidiary 

 

Business 
nature 

 Ownership (%) 

September
30, 2021  

December 
31, 2020  

September 
30, 2020  Descriptions 

The Company  Phoebus Genetics 
Co.,. Ltd. 

 Testing 
service 

 
100%  100%  100%  Note 1 

The Company  Sofiva Genomics 
Bangkok Co., Ltd. 

 Testing 
service 

 
90%  90%  90%  Note 1 

The Company  SOFIVA 
GENOMICS 
Medical Laboratory 

 Testing 
service 

 
-  -  -  Note 1/Note 2 

Note 1: Not an important subsidiary. The financial statements as at September 30, 2021 and 
2020 have not been reviewed by CPA. The financial statements as of December 31, 
2020 have been reviewed by CPA.  

Note 2: The laboratory was established in June 2021. Although the Company has not invested in 
the subsidiary through shareholding, Company has control over the subsidiary’s 
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financial, operational and human resource policies. The subsidiary has therefore been 
added to the consolidation.  

C. Subsidiaries not included in the consolidated financial statements: None.  

D. Adjustments for subsidiaries with different balance sheet dates: None. 

E. Significant restrictions: None. 

F. Subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that are material to the Group: None. 

(4) Foreign currency translation 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency 

of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The 

consolidated financial statements are presented in New Taiwan Dollars, which is the Company’s functional 

and the Group’s presentation currency.  

A. Foreign currency transactions and balances 

a. Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 

rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions are 

recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

b. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the period end are 

retranslated at the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences 

arising upon re-translation at the balance sheet date are recognized in profit or loss. 

c. All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income within ‘Other gains and losses’ 

B. Translation of foreign operations 

The operating results and financial position of all group entities, associates and joint ventures that 

have a functional currency different form the presentation currency are translated into the 

presentation currency as follows: 

a. Assets and liabilities presented in each balance sheet are translated at the closing exchange rate 

at the date of that balance sheet; 

b. Income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at average 

exchange rates of that period; and 

c. All resulting exchange differences re recognized in other comprehensive income. 

(5) Classification of current and non-current items 

A. Assets that meet one of the following criteria are classified as current assets; otherwise they are 

classified as non-current assets: 

a. Assets arising from operating activities that are expected to be realized, or are intended to be 

sold or consumed within the normal operating cycle; 

b. Assets held mainly for trading purposes; 

c. Assets that are expected to be realized within twelve months from the balance sheet date; 

d. Cash and cash equivalents, excluding restricted cash and cash equivalents and those that are to 

be exchanged or used to pay off liabilities more than twelve months after the balance sheet date. 

B. Liabilities that meet one of the following criteria are classified as current liabilities; otherwise they 

are classified as non-current liabilities: 

a. Liabilities that are expected to be paid off within the normal operating cycle; 
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b. Liabilities arising mainly from trading activities; 

c. Liabilities that are to be paid off within twelve months from the balance sheet date; 

d. Liabilities for which the repayment date cannot be extended unconditionally to more than 

twelve months after the balance sheet date. Terms of a liability that could, at the option of the 

counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its 

classification. 

The Group has classified assets that do not comply with the aforesaid conditions as non-current assets. 

 (6) Cash equivalents 

Cash equivalents refer to short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 

amount of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Time deposits and bills under 

repurchase agreements that meet the above criteria and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash 

commitment in operations are classified as cash equivalents. 

(7) Financial assets at amortized cost 

A. Financial assets at Amortized cost are those that meet all of the following criteria: 

a. The objective of the Group’s business model is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows. 

b. The assets’ contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest. 

B. On a regular way purchase or sale basis, financial assets at Amortized cost are recognized and 

derecognized using trade date accounting.  

C. At initial recognition, the Group measures the financial assets at fair  value plus transaction costs. 

Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest 

method. A gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized or impaired. 

D. The Group’s time deposits which do not fall under cash equivalents are those with a short maturity 

period and are measured at initial investment amount as the effect of discounting is immaterial.  

(8) Accounts and notes receivable  

A. Accounts and notes receivable entitle the Group a legal right to receive consideration in exchange 

for transferred goods or rendered services. 

B. The short-term accounts and notes receivable without bearing interest are subsequently measured at 

initial invoice amount as the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

(9) Impairment of financial assets 

For financial assets at Amortized cost, at each reporting date, the Group recognizes the impairment 

provision for 12 months expected credit losses if there has not been a significant increase in credit risk 

since initial recognition or recognizes the impairment provision for the lifetime expected credit losses 

(ECLs) if such credit risk has increased since initial recognition after taking into consideration all 

reasonable and verifiable information that includes forecasts. On the other hand, for accounts receivable 

or contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component, the Group recognizes the 

impairment provision for lifetime ECLs. 
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(10) Derecognition of financial assets 

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to cash flows from the financial 

asset expire. 

(11) Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the weighted-

average method. The item by item approach is used in applying the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated 

cost of completion and applicable variable selling expense. 

(12) Investments accounted for under the equity method - associates  

A. Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control. In general, it 

is presumed that the investor has significant influence, if an investor holds, directly or indirectly 20 per 

cent or more of the voting power of the investee. Investments in associates are accounted for using the 

equity method and are initially recognized at cost. 

B. The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognized in profit or loss, and 

its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognized in other 

comprehensive income. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds the Group’s 

interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognize 

further losses, unless it has incurred statutory/constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of 

the associate. 

C. When changes in an associate’s equity are not recognized in profit or loss or other comprehensive 

income of the associate and such changes do not affect the Group’s ownership percentage of the 

associate, the Group recognizes change in ownership interests in the associate in ‘capital surplus’ in 

proportion to its ownership. 

D. Unrealized gains or losses on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the 

extent of the Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 

transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of 

associates have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 

Group. 

E. In the case that an associate issues new shares and the Group does not subscribe or acquire new shares 

proportionately, which results in a change in the Group’s ownership percentage of the associate but 

maintains significant influence on the associate, then ‘capital surplus’ and ‘investments accounted for 

under the equity method’ shall be adjusted for the increase or decrease of its share of equity interest. If 

the above condition causes a decrease in the Group’s ownership percentage of the associate, in addition 

to the above adjustment, the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in relation 

to the associate are reclassified to profit or loss proportionately on the same basis as would be required 

if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. 

F. When the Group disposes its investment in an associate and loses significant influence over this 

associate, the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to the 

associate, are reclassified to profit or loss, on the same basis as would be required if the relevant assets 

or liabilities were disposed of. If it retains significant influence over this associate, the amounts 

previously recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to the associate are reclassified to 
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profit or loss proportionately in accordance with the aforementioned approach. 

(13) Property, plant and equipment   
A. Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Borrowing costs incurred during the 

construction period are capitalized. 

B. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 

to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 

part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial 

period in which they are incurred. 

C. Property, plant and equipment apply cost model and are depreciated using the straight-line method to 

allocate their cost over their estimated useful lives. Each part of an item of property, plant and 

equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item must be depreciated 

separately. 

D. The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if 

appropriate, at each balance sheet date. If expectations for the assets’ residual values and useful lives 

differ from previous estimates or the patterns of consumption of the assets’ future economic benefits 

embodied in the assets have changed significantly, any change is accounted for as a change in estimate 

under IAS 8, ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’, from the date of the 

change. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

 
Machine and equipment 2 to 8 years
Transportation equipment 5 years
Office equipment 3 to 5 years
Leasehold improvement 3 to 10 years
Others 3 to 5 years

 
(14)  Leasing arrangements (lessee) - right-of-use assets/lease liabilities 

A. Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability at the date at which the 

leased asset is available for use by the Group. For short-term leases or leases of low-value assets, lease 

payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

B. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the remaining lease payments at the commencement 

date, discounted using the incremental borrowing interest rate. Lease payments are comprised of fixed 

payments, less any lease incentives receivable. The Group subsequently measures the lease liability at 

Amortized cost using the interest method and recognizes interest expense over the lease term. The lease 

liability is remeasured and the amount of remeasurement is recognized as an adjustment to the right-

of-asset when there are changes in the lease term or lease payments and such changes do not arise from 

contract modifications. 

C. At the commencement date, the right-of-use asset is stated at cost comprising the following: 

a. The amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; 

b. Any lease payment made at or before the commencement date; 

c. An estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, 

restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by 
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the terms and conditions of the lease. 

The right-of-use asset is measured subsequently using the cost model and is depreciated from the 

commencement date to the earlier of the end of the asset’s useful life or the end of the lease term. When 

the lease liability is remeasured, the amount of remeasurement is recognized as an adjustment to the 

right-of-use asset. 

D. For lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease, the lessee shall decrease the carrying 

amount of right-of use assets to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease, and recognize the 

difference between remeasured lease liability in profit or loss. 

(15) Intangible assets  

Intangible assets are computer software and website costs  which are Amortized on a straight-line basis 

over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years. 

(16) Impairment of non-financial assets  

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date the recoverable amounts of those assets where there is an 

indication that they are impaired. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s 

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 

value less costs to sell or value in use. When the circumstances or reasons for recognizing impairment loss 

for an asset in prior years no longer exist or diminish, the impairment loss is reversed. The increased 

carrying amount due to reversal should not be more than what the depreciated or Amortized historical cost 

would have been if the impairment had not been recognized. 

(17) Accounts and notes payable 

A. Accounts payable are liabilities for purchases of raw materials, goods or services and notes payable 

are those resulting from operating and non-operating activities.  

B. The short-term notes and accounts payable without bearing interest are subsequently measured at 

initial invoice amount as the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

(18) Derecognition of financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability specified in the contract is 

discharged, cancelled or expires.  

(19) Provisions  

Contingent and decommissioning liabilities derived from the offering of testing/ inspection services refer 

to a legal or constructive obligation that has arisen as a result of a past event.  The said obligation may 

be settled with an outflow of resources and the amount thereof can be recognized when it can be reliably 

estimated. Provisions are measured with the best-estimated present value of obligation settlement, which 

will be required to settle the obligations, on the balance sheet date. With respect to the discount, the pre-

tax discount rate is adopted to reflect the market’s assessment on the time value of money and specific 

liability risks. The amortisation of discounts is recognized as interest expense and future operating losses, 

if any, shall not be recognized as provisions.  
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(20) Employee benefits  

A. Short-term employee benefits  

Short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to 

be paid in respect of service rendered by employees in a period and should be recognized as expenses 

in that period when the employees render service. 

B. Pension – defined contribution plans 

For defined contribution plans, the contributions are recognized as pension expenses when they are 

due on an accrual basis. Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent of a cash refund 

or a reduction in the future payments. 

C. Employees’ compensation and directors’ remuneration 

Employees’ compensation and directors’ remuneration are recognized as expenses and liabilities, 

provided that such recognition is required under legal or constructive obligation and those amounts 

can be reliably estimated. Any difference between the resolved amounts and the subsequently actual 

distributed amounts is accounted for as changes in estimates. If employees’ compensation is 

distributed by shares, the Group calculates the number of shares based on the closing market price 

at the previous day of the board meeting resolution.  

(21) Employee share-based payment 

The arrangements of Equity-Settled Share-based Payment refer to labor services acquired using the 

granted equity instruments, which is measured at fair value, on the grant day. The said payments are 

recognized as compensation cost over the vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. The 

fair value of equity instruments reflect the impact of market vesting conditions and non-market vesting 

conditions. Compensation cost is subject to adjustment based on the service conditions that are expected 

to be satisfied and the estimates of the number of equity instruments that are expected to vest under the 

non-market vesting conditions at each balance sheet date. Ultimately, the amount of compensation cost 

recognized is based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest.  

(22) Income tax  

A. The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in profit or loss, 

except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or items 

recognized directly in equity, in which cases the tax is recognized in other comprehensive income or 

equity.  

B. The current income tax expense is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 

enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Group operate and generate taxable 

income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations 

in accordance with applicable tax regulations. It establishes provisions where appropriate based on 

the amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. An additional tax is levied on the 

unappropriated retained earnings and is recorded as income tax expense in the year the stockholders 

resolve to retain the earnings. 

C. Deferred income tax is recognized, using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary 

differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 

consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising 

on investments in subsidiaries except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is 
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controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been 

enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related 

deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.  

D. Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. At each balance sheet 

date, unrecognized and recognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed.  

E. Current income tax assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are offset on the balance sheet when the entity has the legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and they are levied by the same taxation 

authority on either the same entity or different entities that intend to settle on a net basis or realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

F. The interim period income tax expense is recognized based on the estimated average annual effective 
income tax rate expected for the full financial year applied to the pretax income of the interim period, 
and the related information is disclosed accordingly.  

(23) Share capital  

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 

or stock options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

(24) Dividends  

According to Article 240 of Company Act and the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, cash dividends 

distributed to the Company’s shareholders shall be recognized in financial statements when the Company’s 

board of directors makes a resolution on the dividend at the board of directors meeting. Cash dividends 

are recorded as liabilities; and stock dividends are recorded as stock dividends to be distributed and are 

reclassified to ordinary shares on the effective date of new shares issuance. 

(25) Revenue recognition 

A. Revenue from providing services is recognized in the accounting period in which the services are 

rendered. For fixed-price contracts, revenue is recognized based on the service rendered up to the 

end of the reporting period as a proportion of total services to be provided.  

B. Payment terms between pre-payments and OA 90 days are usually offered to customers for the 

rendering of service. As the time interval between the provision of committed product/service and 

customers’ payment schedule is less than 1 year, the trading price is not adjusted in order to reflect 

the time value of money. 

C. The customer pays at the time specified in the payment schedule. If the services rendered exceed the 

payables, a contract asset is recognized. If the payables exceed the rendered services, a contract 

liability is recognized 
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(26) Operating segments  

The Group’s operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided 

to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is responsible for allocating 

resources and assessing performance of operating segments. The Group’s chief operating decision maker 

is the board of directors. 

 

5. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make critical judgements in 

applying the Group’s accounting policies and make critical assumptions and estimates concerning future events. 

Assumptions and estimates may differ from the actual results and are continually evaluated and adjusted based 

on historical experience and other factors. Such assumptions and estimates have a significant risk of causing a 

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, and the 

related information is addressed below: 

A. Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

No uncertainty has been revealed in the assessment of critical judgements adopted to apply the Group’s 

accounting policy. 

B. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

a. Estimating of rendered services 

The Group mainly engages in the provision of various pre-pregnancy, prenatal, and new born genetic 

testing and medical inspection services. Revenue generated therefrom is recognized based on the 

multiplier of the proportion of rendered service day in the total service day and the contract price. 

The estimation of total service day is set based on historical experience. Where the said estimation 

changes due to enhanced R&D and technical capabilities or equipment upgrade, it is a must to make 

corrections accordingly and appropriately. 

b. Estimating the allowance for accounts receivable losses  

The Group not only manages payment collection and payment notice related operations, but also 

bear credit risks derived therefrom. By evaluating customers’ credit and payment status on a regular 

basis, the management authority is able to timely adjust credits offered to customers and related 

credit policy. Also, impairment of accounts receivable is reviewed according to IFRS 9 ‘Financial 

Instruments’, where a simplified approach is adopted to assess expected loss credit. Moreover, based 

on influential factors of customers’ payment ability (ex. customers’ overdue period, financial status 

and economic status on the balance sheet date and historical records) and forward-looking 

information, the management authority succeeded in establishing expected loss rate. 
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6. Important Accounting Items 

(1) Cash and cash equivalents 

 September 30, 
2021 

 December 31, 
2020 

 September 30, 
2020 

Cash on hand $       307  $       264  $       351 

Checking accounts and demand 
deposits 

159,131  152,185  126,754 

Time deposits   36,400    36,400    36,400 

 $ 195,838  $ 188,849  $ 163,505 

 
A. The Group transacts with a variety of financial institutions all with high credit quality to disperse 

credit risk, so it expects that the probability of counterparty default is remote. 

B. The Group does not pledge cash and cash equivalents to others.  

C. As of September 30, 2021, December 31, 2020 and September 30, 2020, the Group’s time deposits 

maturing in excess of three months were classified as current financial assets at Amortized cost in 

the amount of $30,200, respectively (the same amount). For interest income generated from time 

deposits for the quarters ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 and as at September 30, 2021 and 2020, 

please refer to Note 6(15). The Group does not pledge current financial assets at Amortized cost to 

others. 

(2) Notes and accounts receivable 

 September 30, 
2021 

 December 31,  
2020 

 September 30, 
2020 

Notes receivable $     5,827  $       7,580  $      11,678 

Accounts receivable $    50,271  $ 45,780  $      41,970 

Accounts receivable from related parties   3,121    3,235    15,754 

 53,392  49,015  57,724 

Less: loss allowance (      96)  (       732)  (        713) 

 $     53,296  $      48,283  $      57,011 

 
A. Concerning the aging analysis of notes and accounts receivable (including those from related parties) 

and information related credit risks, please refer to Note 12(2). 

B. As of September 30, 2021, December 31, 2020, September 30, 2020 and January 1, 2020, the balance 

of notes and accounts receivable were all from contracts with customers. As of January 1, 2020, the 

balance of notes and accounts receivables from contracts with customers amounted to $66,676. 

C. The Group does not hold any collateral as security for abovementioned notes and accounts receivable. 
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(3) Inventories 

 September 30, 2021 

 
Cost  

Allowance for market 
price decline  Book value 

Raw materials $        41,669  ($         2,788)  $      38,881 

 December 31, 2020 

 
Cost  

Allowance for market 
price decline  Book value 

Raw materials $        53,509  ($         3,401)  $      50,108 

 September 30, 2020 

 
Cost  

Allowance for market 
price decline  Book value 

Raw materials $        39,506  ($         2,731)  $      36,775 

 
A. Above inventories are not pledged as collateral. 

B. The cost of inventories recognized as expense for the period: 

 

 For the quarter 

ended September 

30, 2021  

 For the quarter 

ended September 

30, 2020 

Consumption of raw materials $ 39,990  $ 32,714 

Cost of conversion of raw materials 1,850  1,966 

Loss on price decline in inventory (price recovery) (      984)   (    479) 

 $ 40,856  $ 34,201 

 
 

 As of September 

30, 2021 

 As of September  

30,2020 

Consumption of raw materials $ 106,368  $ 90,619 

Cost of conversion of raw materials 7,799  6,328 

Loss on price decline in inventory (price recovery) (      613)   (    566) 

 $ 113,554  $ 96,381 

Due to the consumption of inventories with allowance for bad debts, the amount of loss on price decline 
was decreased and the Group was therefore benefited from price recovery. 

 

(4) Investments accounted for under the equity method 
 

 September 30, 2021  December 31, 2020  September 30, 2020 

 Book value  
Shareholding 

ratio  Book value  
Shareholding 

ratio  Book value  
Shareholding 

ratio 

DIANTHUS Company 
Limited $242,642  18.42%  $229,736  18.42%  $223,757  18.42% 

 
1. As the Group failed to subscribe new shares issued by that associate according to the shareholding ratio 

in Q3/20 and Q1/20, the shareholding ratio changed to 18.42% and 23.16%, respectively. With respect 
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to the said change derived from the new shares that were not purchased according to the shareholding 
ratio, the Group increased the ‘capital surplus’ and ‘investments accounted for using equity method’, 
with a total of $57,234; and reduced ‘retained earnings’ and ‘investments accounted for under the equity 
method’, with a total of $723, respectively.  

 

2. For the quarters ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 and as at September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Group’s 
share of profit or loss of associates accounted for under equity method was $8,706, $2,600, $21,423 and 

$11,508, respectively. The valuation and recognition thereof were made based on the investee’s self-
prepared financial statements, which have not been audited or certified by a CPA. As the Group’s 
associates do not have open market quotation, no information on the fair value is provided. 

 
3. The financial information of the Group’s major associate is summarized below:  

a. Balance sheets 

  DIANTHUS Company Limited  
  September 30,  

2021 
 December 31, 

2020 
 September 30, 

2020 
 

Current assets  $      1,137,877 $      687,542 $    1,049,224
Non-current assets  1,036,238 1,324,090 827,301
Current liabilities  (        344,065) (     500,676) (     293,917)
Non-current liabilities  (        491,065) (     263,748) (     367,860)
Total net assets  $       1,338,985 $    1,247,208 $   1,214,748

   
Share of net assets in the 
associate 

 
$         246,642 $      229,736 $     223,757

 

Book value (associate)  $         246,642 $      229,736 $     223,757 

 
b. Statement of comprehensive income 

 
 

DIANTHUS Company Limited 

 For the quarter ended 

September 30, 2021 

 For the quarter ended 

September 30, 2020 

Revenue  $           162,580 $         76,667

Profit (loss) from continuing operations 
for the period $             47,259 $          11,963

Total comprehensive income (loss) for 
the period  $           47,259 $          11,963

 
 

 
DIANTHUS Company Limited 

 As at September 30, 

2021 

 As at September 30, 

2020 

Revenue $         416,345 $         199,123

Profit (loss) from continuing operations 
for the period $          116,304 $          49,431

Total comprehensive income (loss) for 
the period $          116,304 $          49,431
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(5) Property, plant and equipment   
 
 

 
 

 2020 
            

 
Machine and 
equipment 

 Transportation 
equipment  

 Office 
equipment  

 Leasehold 
improvement 

 
Others  

  
 

 (for self-use)  (for self-use)  (for self-use)  (for self-use)  (for self-use)  Total 

At January 1    
Cost $ 105,312  $ 8,508  $ 10,054 $ 27,863 $ 21,654 $ 173,391 
Accumulated 
depreciation (  78,001)  (  1,760)  (  3,960) (  4,055) (  5,768) (  93,544) 

 $ 27,311  $ 6,748  $ 6,094 $ 23,808 $ 15,886 $ 79,847 

         
At January 1 $ 27,311  $ 6,748  $ 6,094 $ 23,808 $ 15,886 $ 79,847 
Additions 5,044  -  1,369 1,698 1,724 9,835 
Transfer (   1,516)  -  - - - (   1,516) 
Depreciation expense ( 11,311)  (   1,276)  ( 1,766) ( 2,592) ( 4,732) ( 21,677) 
Net exchange 
differences (      155)  -  (     14) (       60) (        7) (      236) 

At September 30 $ 19,373  $ 5,472  $ 5,683 $ 22,854 $ 12,871 $ 66,253 

At September 30         
Cost $ 87,702  $ 8,508  $ 11,404 $ 29,490 $ 21,324 $ 158,428 
Accumulated 
depreciation (   68,329)  (  3,036)  (  5,721) (  6,636) (  8,853) (  92,175) 

 $ 19,373  $  5,472  $ 5,683 $ 22,854 $ 12,871, $ 66,253 

 
The Group does not pledge property, plant or equipment to others or capitalize the interest. 

 

 2021 

            

 Machine and 

equipment  

 Transportation 

equipment 

 Office 

equipment  

 Leasehold 

improvement 

 
Others  

  

 

 (for self-use)  (for self-use)  (for self-use)  (for self-use)  (for self-use)  Total 

At January 1            

Cost $  87,771 $   8,508   $  11,413 $ 29,546 $ 21,418 $ 158,656

Accumulated 

depreciation (  72,060) (   3,462)  (     6,307) (  7,528) (  9,962) (  99,319)

 $     15,711 $   5,046  $     5,106 $ 22,018 $ 11,456 $ 59,337

  

At January 1 $ 15,711 $ 5,046  $ 5,106 $ 22,018 $ 11,456 $ 59,337

Additions 678 -  7,310 - 114 8,102 

Depreciation expense ( 6,664) ( 1,276)  ( 2,958) ( 2,614) ( 4,438) ( 17,950)

Net exchange 

differences (  157)   -  (        16) (  127) (   11) (     311) 

At September 30 $ 9,568 $ 3,770  $ 9,442 $ 19,277 $ 7,121 $ 49,178

At September 30  

Cost $ 88,143 $ 8,508  $ 18,692 $ 29,321 $ 21,495 $ 166,157

Accumulated 

depreciation (  78,575) (  4,738)  (  9,248) (  10,044) (  14,374) ( 116,979)

 $  9,568 $     3,770  $     9,442 $ 19,277 $ 7,121 $ 49,178
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(6) Lease transactions – lessee 
A. The Group leases office. The lease contract(s) thereof are typically made for periods of 2 to 10 years. 

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and 
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose covenants. 

B. The carrying amount of right-of-use assets and depreciation expense are as follows: 
 

 2021  2020 

 Office(s)  Office(s) 

At January 1 $          100,622 $     106,307

Additions for the period 817 11,004

Depreciation expense  (       12,620) (     12,688)

Net exchange differences  (             492) 49

At September 30   $          88,327 $     104,672

 
C. The information on profit and loss accounts relating to lease contract(s) is as follows: 

 
 

Items affecting profit or loss for the period 

For the quarter  

ended September 30, 2021 

 For the quarter 

ended September 

30, 2020 

Interest expense on lease liabilities  $            412 $          484
Expense on short-term leases or leases of low-value 
assets 

102  103

 $              514 $          587

 
 

Items affecting profit or loss for the period 

As at September  

30, 2021 

 As at September 30, 

2020 

Interest expense on lease liabilities  $          1,296   $          1,455
Expense on short-term leases or leases of low-value 
assets 307  307
 $          1,603 $        1,762

 
 

D. As at September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Group’s total cash outflow generated from the payments for 
the principal portion of the lease liability were $11,654 and $11,544, respectively, apart from the 

total cash outflow for leases as described in Paragraph 3 (‘D’) of Note 6(6). 
E. Option to extend and option to terminate the lease 

a. The Group may also exercise option to extend for lease contracts having office as the lease 
subject. This term is specified to optimize the Group’s operational efficiency and enhance the 
management thereof. 

b. To finalize the lease period, the Group will take all facts and conditions, in which economic 
incentives may occur when exercising option to extend or not exercising option to terminate, into 
consideration. In the occurrence of a major incident due to the exercise of option to extend or the 
decision of not exercising option to terminate, the lease period will be re-estimated. 
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(7) Other payables 
 

 
September 30, 

2021  

December 31, 

2020  

September 30, 

2020 

Personnel expenses payable $   22,949   $   23,378 $   20,032

Royalties payable 3,191  3,538 4,450

Labor fees payable 2,070  1,646 1,868

Payable on machinery and equipment 1,949  -     3,580

Others   8,438    9,426   8,092

 $ 38,597  $ 37,988 $ 38,022

 

(8) Provisions 

 
 2021 

 Decommissioning 

liabilities  

Contingent 

liabilities  Total 

At January 1 $   3,037  $ 1,386 $ 4,423

Reversal of provisions for the period -  ( 48) (  48)

Amortized interests 36  -   36

Net exchange differences ( 26)    - ( 26)

At September 30 $ 3,047  $ 1,338 $ 4,385

  

2020 

 Decommissioning 

liabilities  

Contingent 

liabilities  Total 

At January 1 $ 2,809  $   221 $ 3,030

New provisions for the period 183  - 183

Liability reserve for the current period -   (     151) (     151)

Amortized interests   34    - 34

Net exchange differences (        7)  - (       7)

At September 30 $ 3,019  $    70 $ 3,089

The provisions are analyzed as follows  

  

 September 30, 

2021  

December 31, 

2020  

September 30, 

2020 

Current $ 1,338  $ 1,386 $    70

Non-current   3,047    3,037   3,019

 $ 4,385  $ 4,423 $ 3,089

 
A. Contingent liabilities 

Any liabilities related to or of testing services provided by the Group were estimated based on the 
Group’s records of offering the services and statistics thereof. 
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B. Decommissioning liabilities 
According to applicable contract requirements, the Group is obliged to disassemble, remove or 
restore facilities at the leased office building. Any expected costs related thereto shall therefore be 
recognized at the current price as provisions. The said provisions are expected to occurred upon 
termination of the lease period.  

(9) Pensions 
The Company has set up a defined benefit pension plan, which is appliable to our domestic employees, in 

accordance with the ‘Labor Pension Act’ (the Act). According to the labor pension system selected by 
employees as prescribed in the Act, the Company contributes monthly an amount of 6% of the employees’ 

monthly salaries and wages to the employees’ individual pension accounts at the Bureau of Labor 
Insurance. Benefits accrued are paid monthly or in lump sum upon termination of employment. For the 
quarters ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 and as at September 30, 2021 and 2020, the pension cost 
recognized by the Company according to the said Act were $1,124, $1,139, $3,386 and $3,337, 
respectively. 

 
(10) Share-based payment  

A. The Company’s share-based payment arrangements as at September 30, 2021 and 2020 are specified 

as follows: 

Type of 
arrangement  Grant date  

Grant 
quantity 
(No. of 
shares)  

Contract 
period  Vesting Conditions  

Settlement 
method 

The 1st 
Employee Stock 
Option Plan 

 September 
30, 2015 

 500,000  6.08 years  Will be vested up to 20% over a 
2-year period; 40% over a 3-year 
period; 60% over a 4-year period; 
80% over a 5-year period; and 
100% over a 6-year period. 

 Equity 
settlement 

The 2nd  
Employee Stock 
Option Plan 

 May 13, 
2020 

 770,000  5 years  Will be vested up to 20% over a 
2-year period; 50% over a 3-year 
period; and 100% over a 4-year 
period. 

 Equity 
settlement 

The 2nd  
Employee Stock 
Option Plan 

 March 24, 
2021 

 230,000  5 years  Will be vested up to 20% over a 
2-year period; and 50% over a 3-
year period; and 100% over a 4-
year period. 

 Equity 
settlement 

 
B. Details regarding the aforesaid share-based payment are as follows:  

a. The 1st Employee Stock Option Plan 
  2 0 2 1   2 0 2 0  

  Quantity of 
stock option 
(number of 

shares)  

Weighted 
average exercise 
price (in dollars) 

(Note)  

Quantity of 
stock option 
(number of 

shares)  

Weighted 
average exercise 
price (in dollars) 

(Note) 

Outstanding stock options at beginning 
of period (at January 1) 

 
106,400 11.7 156,800 13.1

Stock options granted in the period  - - -  -
Stock options given up in the period  (5,600) 11.7 (4,000) 13.1
Stock options exercised in the period  - - (4,000) 13.1

Outstanding stock options at end of 
period (at September 30) 

 
100,800 11.7 148,800 11.7

Exercisable stock options at end of 
period (at September 30) 

 
50,000 11.7 36,000 11.7

 
Note: The Company already adjusted the exercise price of employee stock option grants 
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according to Regulations Governing the Subscription of Employee Stock Options. 
 

b. The 2nd Employee Stock Option Plan (granted on May 13, 2020) 
  2 0 2 1   2 0 2 0  
  Quantity of 

stock option 
(number of 

shares)  

Weighted 
average exercise 
price (in dollars) 

(Note)  

Quantity of 
stock option 
(number of 

shares)  

Weighted 
average exercise 
price (in dollars) 

(Note) 
Outstanding stock options at beginning 
of period (at January 1) 

 
735,000 58.2 -  -

Stock options granted in the period  - - 770,000  60.5
Stock options given up in the period  (   60,000) 58.2 (   35,000)  60.5
Stock options exercised in the period  - - -  -
Outstanding stock options at end of 
period (at September 30) 

 
675,000 56.6 735,000  58.2

Exercisable stock options at end of 
period (at September 30) 

 
- - -  -

 
Note: The Company already adjusted the exercise price of employee stock option grants 

according to Regulations Governing the Subscription of Employee Stock Options. 
 

c. The 2nd Employee Stock Option Plan (granted on March 24, 2021) 
  2 0 2 1   2 0 2 0  
  Quantity of 

stock option 
(number of 

shares)  

Weighted 
average exercise 
price (in dollars) 

(Note)  

Quantity of 
stock option 
(number of 

shares)  

Weighted 
average exercise 
price (in dollars) 

(Note) 
Outstanding stock options at beginning 
of period (at January 1) 

 
- - - -

Stock options granted in the period  230,000 49.8 - -
Stock options given up in the period  - - - -
Stock options exercised in the period  - - - -
Outstanding stock options at end of 
period (at September 30) 

 
230,000 48.4 - -

Exercisable stock options at end of 
period (September 30) 

 
- - - -

 
Note: The Company already adjusted the exercise price of employee stock option grants 

according to Regulations Governing the Subscription of Employee Stock Options. 
C. The maturity date and exercise price of outstanding employee stock options at the balance sheet date 

are as follows: 
      September 30, 2021  December 31, 2020  September 30, 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 Number of 

shares 

 Exercise 

price 

 Number of 

shares 

 Exercise 

price 

 Number of 

shares 

 Exercise 

price 

Type of arrangement 
 Approved issue / grant 

date 

 
Maturity date

 (shares in 

thousands) 
 (in dollars)  

(shares in 

thousands) 
 (in dollars)  

(shares in 

thousands) 
 (in dollars) 

The 1st Employee 

Stock Option Plan 
October 27, 2016 

October 31, 

2021 

 
100.8 11.1 106.4 11.7 148.8 11.7

The 2nd  Employee 

Stock Option Plan 
May 13, 2020 

May 12, 

2025 

 
675.0 56.6 735.0 58.2 735.0 58.2

The 2nd  Employee 

Stock Option Plan 
March 24, 2021 

March 23, 

2026 

 
230.0 48.4 - - - -
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D. The fair value of stock options granted on grant date is measured by using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. Relevant information is as follows: 

Type of 

arrangement  Grant date  

Share price 

(in dollars)  

Exercise 
price (in 

dollars)  

Expected 
volatility 

rate(Note)  

Expected 

life  

Expected 

dividends  

Risk-free 

interest rate  

Fair value per unit (in 

dollars) 

The 1st Employee 

Stock Option Plan 
 

September 

30, 2015 
 15.09  20.00  49.76%  5.04 years  -  0.93%  5.38 

The 2nd Employee 
Stock Option Plan 

 May 13, 2020  60.50  60.50  30.51%  
3.5 to 4.5 

years 
 2.71%  

0.35 %-
0.36% 

 

10.66 over a 2-year 

period; 11.14 over a 3-
year period; 11.56 over a 

4-year period. 

The 2nd Employee 
Stock Option Plan 

 
March 24, 

2021 
 49.80  49.80  33.64%  

3.5 to 4.5 
years 

 2.68%  
0.25 %-
0.28% 

 

9.7 over a 2-year period; 

10.2 over a 3-year 
period; 10.6 over a 4-

year period. 

 
Note:Expected volatility rate was estimated by using the stock prices of the most recent period with 

length of this period approximate to the length of the stock options’ expected life, and the 
standard deviation of return on the stock during this period. 

E. For the quarters ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 and as at September 30, 2021 and 2020, the total 

of expense derived from the aforesaid share-based payment transaction was $772、$686、$2,063 

and$1,194, respectively. 
(11) Share capital  

A. As of September 30, 2021, the Company’s authorized capital was $300,000 divided into 30,000 
thousand shares (including 2,000 thousand shares that can be subscribed under the employee stock 

option), and the paid-in capital was $212,616 with a par value of $10 (in dollars) per share. All 
proceeds from shares issued have been collected. Movements in the number of the Company’s 

ordinary shares outstanding at beginning of period  and end of period  are as follows: 
 

 2021  2020 

At January 1 21,261,600 21,215,200

Exercise of employee stock option   -   4,000

September 30   21,261,600   21,219,200

 
B. As at September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company issued 0 shares and 4,000 shares, respectively, 

due to the exercise of employee stock options. With respect to the issuance of ordinary shares due to 

the said exercise of employee stock options, amendments already made to the Company’s share 
capital accordingly. 

(12) Capital surplus  
A. Pursuant to the R.O.C. Company Act, any capital surplus arising from paid-in capital in excess of 

par value on issuance of ordinary shares and donations can be used to cover accumulated deficits or 
to issue new shares or cash to shareholders in proportion to their share ownership, provided that the 
Company has no accumulated deficits. Furthermore, the R.O.C. Securities and Exchange Act 
requires that the amount of capital surplus to be capitalized mentioned above may not exceed 10% 
of the paid-in capital each year. The capital surplus may not be used to cover accumulated deficits 
unless the legal reserve is insufficient. 

B. With respect to changes to the Company’s surplus, please refer to the Consolidated Statements of 
Change in Equity. 

(13) Retained earnings  
A. Under the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, no dividend and bonus shall be distributed if the 

Company does not have any surplus in the annual final accounts. The earnings of the current period, 
if any, shall be firstly used to pay all taxes and cover accumulated deficit; and then, 10% of the 
remaining earnings should be set aside as legal reserve. Next, the Company may appropriate or 



 

- 31 -  

reserve a certain amount as special reserve for the current year according to relevant regulations or 
laws. After the distribution of earnings, the remaining earnings and prior years’ unappropriated 
retained earnings may be appropriated according to the proposal by the board of directors and be 
submitted to shareholders’ meeting for approval. Nevertheless, shareholders’ dividends of the year 
shall not be lower than 30% of the current year’s remaining earning. Where the accumulated 

unappropriated retained earnings are lower than 1% of share capital, the Company may retain the 
earnings. The distribution of earnings shall be made in cash or stock dividends. As the Company’s 

operating status is currently quite stable, the earnings shall be distributed as cash dividends as the 
priority option; or be distributed as stock dividends. Nevertheless, of the amount to be distributed by 
the Company, the percentage of cash dividends shall not be less than 30% of dividends distributed. 
On the basis of Paragraph 5 of Article 240 of Company Act, the Company authorizes the distributable 
dividends and bonuses in whole or in part may be paid in legal reserve and capital surplus, as 
prescribed in Paragraph 1 of Article 241 of the Company Act, after a resolution has been adopted by 
a majority vote at a meeting of the board of directors attended by two-thirds of the total number of 
directors; and in addition thereto a report of such distribution shall be submitted to the shareholders’ 

meeting. 
B. Except for covering accumulated deficits or issuing new shares or cash to shareholders in proportion 

to their share ownership, the legal reserve may not be used for any other purpose. The use of the 
legal reserve for the issuance of shares or cash to shareholders in proportion to their share ownership 
is permitted, provided that the distribution of the reserve is limited to the portion in excess of 25% 
of the Company’s paid-in capital. 

C. In accordance with the regulations, the Company must set aside a special reserve from the debit 
balance on other equity items at the balance sheet date before distributing earnings. When the debit 
balance on other equity items is reversed subsequently, the reversed amount may be included in the 
distributable earnings. 

D. The appropriations of earnings 
The appropriations of 2020 and 2019 earnings were resolved on August 18, 2021 and in the 

shareholders’ meeting held on June 17, 2020, respectively. The appropriations and dividends per 
share are as follows: 

 

 2020  2019 

 Amount  

Dividends 

per share 

(in dollars)  Amount  

Dividends 

per share 

(in dollars) 

Legal reserve $ 3,385  $ 6,106  

Cash dividends   29,766  1.4   55,170 2.6 

 $ 33,151  $ 61,276  
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(14) Operating revenue  
A. Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers 

Details of the Group’s revenue from the transfer of labor services at a point in time, which can be 
classified according to the primary product line and geographic area, are as follows: 

 

For the quarter ended September 

30, 2021 
 

Testing   

services  

Other 

services   

 Taiwan  Others  Others  Total 

Revenue from contracts with 

customers 

 

$ 122,582 $ 2,671 $     - $ 125,253

  

For the quarter ended September 

30, 2020 

 Testing  

 services  

Other 

services 

 Taiwan  Others  Others  Total 

Revenue from contracts with 

customers 

 

$ 119,202 $ 3,860 $       - $ 123,062
 

As at September 30, 2021  

Testing   

services  

Other 

services   

 Taiwan  Others  Others  Total 

Revenue from contracts with 

customers 

 

$ 373,670 $ 9,420 $      - $ 383,090

  

As at September 30, 2020 

 Testing   

services  

Other 

services 

 Taiwan  Others  Others  Total 

Revenue from contracts with 

customers 

 

$ 356,366 $ 8,662 $   232 $ 365,260

 
 

 
B. Contract assets and liabilities 

a. The Group’s contract assets and liabilities recognized in ‘revenue from contracts with 
customers’ are as follows: 
 September 

30, 2021  
December  
31, 2020  

September 
30, 2020  

January  
1, 2020 

Current contract assets: 

  Contract assets – testing related 
services $ 8,851 $ 6,456 $ 4,959 $ 6,251

Current contract liabilities: 

  Contract liabilities – testing related 
services $ 3,158 $ 3,247 $ 2,540 $ 2,556
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b. Contract liabilities at beginning of period that are recognized as revenue in the period 

 

For the quarter 
ended September 

30, 2021 

 For the quarter 
ended 

September 30, 
2020 

Testing related services  $     -  $     4 
 

 
As at September 

30, 2021 
 As at September 

30, 2020 

Testing related services $ 2,569  $ 2,035 
 
 

(15) Interest income 

 For the quarter 
ended September 

30, 2021 

 For the quarter 
ended 

September 30, 
2020 

Interest income from bank deposits $ 65  $           77 
Interest income from rent imputed interest   -  - 
 $ 65  $           77 

 

 
As at September 

30, 2021 

 
As at September 

30, 2020 

Interest income from bank deposits $ 222  $ 280
Interest income from rent imputed interest              31  42 
 $ 253  $ 322

 
 

(16) Finance costs 

 For the quarter 
ended September 30, 

2021 

 For the quarter 
ended September 

30, 2020 

Interest expense on lease liabilities $ 412  $ 484 
Interest expense  on decommissioning liabilities   13    11 

 $ 425  $ 495 
 

 As at September 30, 
2021 

 As at September 
30, 2020 

Interest expense on lease liabilities $ 1,296  $         1,455 
Interest expense  on decommissioning liabilities   36    34 

 $ 1,332  $ 1,489 
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(17) Expenses by nature 

 For the quarter 
ended September 

30, 2021 

 For the quarter 
ended September  

30, 2020 

Employee benefit expense $ 32,748  $  29,647  

Depreciation expense for property, plant and equipment and 

right-of-use assets 

$ 9,577  $  11,320  

Amortized expense on intangible assets $ 476  $ 651 

 

 
As at September 30, 

2021 

 
As at September 30, 

2020 

Employee benefit expense $ 94,552  $  89,868 

Depreciation expense for property, plant and equipment and 

right-of-use assets 

$ 30,570  $  34,365 

Amortized expense on intangible assets $        1,457  $         1,874 

 

 
(18) Employee benefit expense 

 

 For the quarter ended September 
30, 2021 

 For the quarter ended 
September 30, 2020 

Salaries and wages $ 26,375  $ 23,680 

Share-based payments 772  686 

Labor and health insurance expenses 2,461  2,338 

Pension costs 1,124  1,139 

Remuneration for directors 684  552 

Others   1,332    1,252 

 $ 32,748  $ 29,647 

 
 

As at September 30, 2021 
 

As at September 30, 2020 

Salaries and wages $ 75,838  $ 73,144 

Share-based payments 2,063  1,194 

Labor and health insurance expenses 7,418  6,816 

Pension costs 3,386  3,337 

Remuneration for directors 1,997  1,646 

Others   3,850    3,731 

 $ 94,552  $ 89,868 

 

A. According to the Articles of Incorporation of the Company, a ratio of distributable profit of the 
current period, after covering accumulated losses, shall be distributed as employees’ compensation 
and directors’ remuneration. The ratio shall be 1% to 10% for employees’ compensation and not 
higher than 2% for directors’ remuneration.  
When distributing employees’ compensation in shares or cash dividends, a resolution shall be 
reached by a majority vote at a meeting of the board of directors attended by two-thirds of the total 
number of directors; and a report of such distribution shall be submitted to the shareholders’ meeting. 
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Those whom are distributed with shares or cash dividends shall include subordinate employees who 
comply with specific conditions. 
Matters related to the distribution of employees’ compensation and board directors remuneration 
shall be conducted according to relevant regulations, be resolved by the board of directors and be 
reported to shareholders in the shareholders’ meeting. 

B. For the quarters ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 and as at September 30, 2021 and 2020, the 

Company’s employees’ compensation(reversal) was accrued at $335、($305)、$997 and $560, 

respectively; while directors’ remuneration was accrued at $168、$64、$499 and $280, respectively. 

The aforementioned amounts were recognized in salary expenses. 
The expenses recognized for the three months ended September 30, 2021 was accrued based on 
earnings of current period and the percentage of employees compensation and directors’ 
remuneration were 2% and 1%, respectively. 
The employees’ compensation and directors’ remuneration for 2020 were $800 and $400, 
respectively, which are consistent with the amounts recognized in 2020 Financial Statements. As of 
September 30, 2021, the said compensation has been paid out in cash in $800 and $400, respectively. 

C. Information about the appropriation of employees’ compensation and directors’ remuneration of the 
Company as resolved by board of directors will be posted in the ‘Market Observation Post System’ 

at the website of the Taiwan Stock Exchange. 

(19) Income tax 

A. Income tax expense (income) 
a. Components of income tax expense (income) 

 

 

 

 

 For the quarter 
ended September 30, 

2021 

 For the quarter  
ended September 30, 

2020 

Current tax:   

  Current income tax liabilities  ($  58)     ($      2,559) 

  Current income tax assets  (          943) (       3,906) 

  Refundable overpaid income tax to previous 

  years    -  - 

  Provisional and withholding tax  3,141   6,747 

  An addition on unappropriated earnings  - (         36) 

  Prior year income tax under estimate(over)  - - 

Total income tax for the period    2,140   246 

Deferred income tax:     

  Origination and reversal of temporary 

  differences 

 

  (         171) 459 

Others:    

 An addition on unappropriated earnings  - 36 

  Net exchange differences  

(     142) 

 

 (        88) 

Income tax (benefit) expense   $     1,827 $     653
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As at September 30, 

2021 

 
As at September 

 30, 2020 

Current tax:   

  Current income tax liabilities  $ 3,522 $           -

  Current income tax assets (        3,701) (       3,948)

  Refundable overpaid income tax to previous 

  years 

 

2,602 13

  Provisional and withholding tax  3,309  6,776

  An addition on unappropriated earnings  (         40) (         38)

  Prior year income tax under (over) estimate  348 (        715)

Total income tax for the period    6,040  2,088

Deferred income tax:    

  Origination and reversal of temporary 

  differences 

 

(        174)    152

Others:   

  An addition on unappropriated earnings  40 38

  Net exchange differences  (        365) (         145)

Income tax (benefit) expense  $ 5,541 $ 2,133

 

b. For the quarters ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 and as at September 30, 2021 and 2020， 

the Group does not have any income tax related to direct debit or credit of equity. 
c. Amount of income tax related to other comprehensive income (loss) 

 

 For the quarter ended 
September 
 30, 2021 

 For the quarter ended 
September 30, 2020 

Translation differences of foreign operations ($    8)  $      -

 

 As at September 30, 
2021 

 
As at September 30, 

2020 

Translation differences of foreign operations $        1  $      -

 
B. The Company’s income tax returns through 2019 have been assessed and approved by the tax authority. 

Besides, the income tax returns of the Company’s subsidiary ‘Phoebus Genetics Co., Ltd.’ through 2018 

have been assessed and approved by the tax authority.  
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(20) Earnings per share 

 
  For the quarter ended September 30, 2021 

  

Amount 

after tax  

Weighted average 

number of ordinary 

shares outstanding 

(shares in thousands)  

Earnings per 

share  

(in dollars) 

Basic earnings per share       

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of 

the parent for the period 

 

$ 14,398  21,262  0.68 

Diluted earnings per share   

  Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of 

the parent for the period 

 

$ 14,398  21,262  

Assumed conversion of all dilutive potential 

ordinary shares 

 

 

－Employee stock options - 78  

－Employees’ compensation - 7  

  Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of 

the parent plus assumed conversion of all 

dilutive potential ordinary shares 

 

$ 14,398  21,347  0.67 

 

 For the quarter ended September 30, 2020 
 

Amount 
after tax  

Weighted average 
number of ordinary 
shares outstanding 

(shares in thousands)  

Earnings per 
share  

(in dollars) 
Basic earnings per share 

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 
parent for the period $ 5,854  21,219  0.28

Diluted earnings per share 
  Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 

parent for the period $ 5,854  21,219
Assumed conversion of all dilutive potential 
ordinary shares 
－Employee stock options - 120
－Employees’ compensation - -

  Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 
parent plus assumed conversion of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares $ 5,854  21,337  0.27
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  As of September 30, 2021 

  

Amount 

after tax  

Weighted average 

number of ordinary 

shares outstanding 

(shares in thousands)  

Earnings per 

share  

(in dollars) 

Basic earnings per share       

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of 

the parent for the period 

 

$ 42,998  21,262  2.02 

Diluted earnings per share   

  Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of 

the parent for the period 

 

$ 42,998  21,262  

Assumed conversion of all dilutive potential 

ordinary shares 

 

 

－Employee stock options - 79  

－Employees’ compensation - 26  

  Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of 

the parent plus assumed conversion of all 

dilutive potential ordinary shares 

 

$ 42,998  21,362  2.01 

 

 As of September 30, 2020 
 

Amount 
after tax  

Weighted average 
number of ordinary 
shares outstanding 

(shares in thousands)  

Earnings per 
share  

(in dollars) 
Basic earnings per share 

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 
parent for the period $ 24,686  21,219  1.16

Diluted earnings per share 
  Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 

parent for the period $ 24,686  21,219
Assumed conversion of all dilutive potential 
ordinary shares 
－Employee stock options - 124
－Employees’ compensation - 29

  Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 
parent plus assumed conversion of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares $ 24,686  21,372  1.16

 

(21) Supplemental cash flow information 
A. Partial cash paid for investing activities : 

 As of September 30, 
2021  

As of September 30, 
2020 

Acquisition of right-of-use assets $            817 $         11,004
Less: Lease liabilities for the period (           817) (            10,821)
Less: New decommissioning liabilities for the period $             - (              183)
Cash paid during the period $             - $              - 
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Acquisition of property, plant and equipment As of September 30, 
2021  As of September 30, 

2020 

Add: Payables on machinery and equipment at 
beginning of period $ 8,102 $ 9,835
 - $     5,545
Less:  Payables on machinery and equipment at end 
of period ( 1,949) (    3,580)
Cash paid during the period $ 6,153 $ 11,800

 
 

(22) Changes in liabilities from financing activities 

 2021 
 

Dividends 
payable  

Current/ non-
current lease 

liabilities  

Total liabilities 
from financing 

activities 
At January 1 

$        - $ 101,100 $ 101,100
Declare the distribution of dividends 29,766  -  29,766 
Cash dividends (     29,766)  -  (      29,766) 
Lease liabilities for the period   817  817 
Lease liabilities principal repayment. -  (   11,654)  (  11,654) 
Net exchange differences   -  (       460)  (      460) 
At September 30 $       -  $ 89,803  $ 89,803 

 

 

 

2020 
 

Dividends payable  

Current/ non-
current lease 

liabilities  

Total liabilities 
from financing 

activities 

At January 1 $          -  $ 105,680  $ 105,680 
Declare the distribution of dividends 55,170  -  55,170 
Cash dividends (   55,170)  -  (   55,170) 
Lease liabilities for the period -  10,821  10,821 
Lease liabilities principal repayment.   -  ( 11,544)  ( 11,544) 
Net exchange differences   -  (      132)    132 
At September 30 $          -  $ 104,825  $ 104,825 
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7. Related-Party Disclosures 
(1) Names of related parties and relationship 

Name  Relationship with the Group 

DIANTHUS Company Limited (DIANTHUS Company) 

(Original name: HEYAO Company Limited) 

 A company that has crucial influence 

on the Group. 

DIANTHUS MFM CENTER(DIANTHUS HUAINING)  The Company’s chairman is in charge of 

the center 

DIANTHUS PEDIATRIC CLINIC (DIANTHUS PEDIATRIC 

HUAINING) 

 Substantive Related parties (Note) 

DIANTHUS MFM CLINIC - XINSHENG (DIANTHUS 

XINSHENG) 

 Substantive Related parties (Note) 

DIANTHUS PEDIATRIC CLINIC (DIANTHUS PEDIATRIC)  Substantive Related parties (Note) 

DIANTHUS MEMCLINIC - MINQUAN (DIANTHUS 

MINQUAN) 

 Substantive Related parties (Note) 

DIANTHUS MFM CLINIC - NEIHU (DIANTHUS NEIHU)  Substantive Related parties (Note) 

DIANTHUS PEDIATRIC CLINIC - MINQUAN 

(DIANTHUS PEDIATRIC MINQUAN) 

 Substantive Related parties (Note) 

DIANTHUS PEIATRIC CLINIC-SHILIN (DIANTHUS 

PEDIATRIC SHILIN) 

 Substantive Related parties (Note) 

DIANTHUS MFM CLINIC – TAOYUAN (DIANTHUS 

TAOYUAN) 

 Substantive Related parties (Note) 

SOFIVA CLINICAL LABORATORY (SOFIVA 

LABORATORY) 

 Substantive Related parties  

DIANTHUS CLINICAL LABORATORY (DIANTHUS 

LABORATORY) 

 Substantive Related parties  

YOUTHGENE TECHNOLOGY Co., Ltd. 

(YOUTHGENE TECHNOLOGY) 

All directors, general manager and management team 

 The spouse of the Company’s chairman 

is the director of that company 

The Group’s management team and 

governance units 
Note: Engaging mainly in the provision of pre-pregnancy, prenatal, and newborn genetic testing and 

medical inspection services, the Group has been collaborating with members of the 
‘DIANTHUS MFM (maternal–fetal medicine) system’. Considering the completeness of the 
DIANTHUS MFM system and the fact that the Group and clinics/centers joining the system 
are independent operating entities, the definition of related party is therefore reviewed in 
accordance with IAS24 and the aforesaid clinics/centers will no longer be listed as related 
parties starting from November 2020. 

(2) Significant related party transactions 
A. Provision of testing services 

a. Service income 
Details of service income accrued from the provision of testing services to related parties are 

as follows: 

 For the quarter 
ended September

30, 2021 

 For the quarter 
ended September 

30, 2020 

Other related parties $ 6,023  $ 26,359 

 

 As of September 
30, 2021  

As of September 
30, 2020 

Other related parties $ 20,361  $ 74,572 
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The testing services provided by the Group to related parties and general customers are 
identical. Whilst the transaction price is based on agreements reached by both parties, no major 
difference in payment terms has been revealed between related parties and non-related parties. 
Payment terms ranging from prepayments and OA 90 days are offered to general customers, 
whereas abovementioned related parties are offered with OA 60 days. 

b. Accounts receivable 
The balances of accounts receivable accrued from abovementioned related-party disclosures 

are as follows: 
 September 30,  

2021  
December 31,  

2020  
September 30,  

2020 
Related parties – 
DIANTHUS MINQUAN $             - $             - $         6,352
Related parties – 
DIANTHUS HUAINING  3,121  3,235  4,043
Other related parties - 
Others   -   -   5,359
 $ 3,121 $ 3,235 $ 15,754

 
c. Contract assets 

The balances of contract liabilities accrued from abovementioned related-party disclosures are 
as follows: 

 
 September 30, 

2021 
 December 31,  

2020 
 September 30, 

2020 
Related parties – 
DIANTHUS MINQUAN 

$            -  $              -  $           496 

Other related parties 521  406  967 

  $        521  $           406  $        1,463 

 
B. Outsourced testing services 

a. Service costs 
Details of service costs accrued from the testing services provided by the Group to related 
parties are as follows: 

 

 For the quarter ended 
September 30, 2021 

 For the quarter ended 
September 30, 2020 

Other related parties – Sofiva 
Center 

$                 8,438  $          9,394 

Other related parties - Others   542    560 

 $                8,980  $            9,954 

 

 As at September 30, 2021  As at September 30, 2020 

Other related parties – Sofiva 
Center 

$                27,479  $          29,835 

Other related parties - Others            1,456    2,190 

 $                28,935  $            32,025 

 
The transaction price of testing services provided by related parties to the Group shall refer to 

agreements reached by both parties. No major difference in payment terms has been revealed 
between related and non-related parties. The payment term of OA 60 is offered to general 
supplier, whereas the same payment term (OA 60 days) is offered to above related parties. 
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b. Notes payable/accounts payable  

The balances of notes payable and accounts payable accrued from the aforementioned related-
party disclosures are as follows: 
i. Notes payable 

 September30, 
 2021 

 December 31, 
2020 

 September30, 
2020 

Other related parties – Sofiva Center $ 2,482 $    2,388  $ 2,785 

Other related parties - others   160   124    165 

 $ 2,642 $    2,512  $ 2,950 

ii. Accounts payable 
 September30, 

 2021 
 December 31, 

2020 
 September30, 

2020 
Other related parties – Sofiva Center $ 2,580 $    3,245  $ 2,951 

Other related parties - others   142   166    166 

 $ 2,722 $    3,411  $ 3,117 

 
C. Dividend income  
    Dividend income allocated to the Company due to investment in affiliated companies (the table 

has adopted investment deduction under the equity method): 

 For the quarter ended 
September 30, 2021 

 For the quarter ended 
September 30, 2020 

Affiliated companies- 
DIANTHUS Company Limited 

$                 4,448  $                    - 

 For the quarter ended 
September 30, 2021 

 For the quarter ended 
September 30, 2020 

Affiliated companies - 
DIANTHUS Company Limited 

$                 4,448  $                    - 

 
(3) Key management personnel compensation 

 

For the quarter ended 
September 30, 2021 

 For the quarter ended 
September 30, 2020 

Short-term employee benefits $ 4,149  $ 4,622 
Post-employment compensation 47  27 
Share-based payment  329   148 

 $     4,525  $      4,797 
 

 

As at September 30, 
2021 

 As at September 30, 
2020 

Short-term employee benefits $ 12,158  $ 11,936 
Post-employment compensation 125  81 
Share-based payment  863   262 

 $    13,146  $      12,279 
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8. Pledged Assets 
None.  

 
9. Significant Contingent Liabilities and Unrecognized Contractual Commitments  

A. Contingencies 

On April 28, 2018, the plaintiff had a prenatal test at a clinic with which the Company cooperates for 
testing services. The test report issued by the clinic stated that no Williams syndrome was detected. 

Nevertheless, on February 18, 2019, the plaintiff’s son was diagnosed to have Williams syndrome. 
Holding the belief that the Company was the contractual party and the Company’s provided testing service 
was blemished, the plaintiff therefore filed a compensation claim of $5,640 against the Company plus 
statutory prejudgment interest.  
The court announced the verdict and declared that the Company was not guilty on December 10, 2020. 
Nevertheless, the plaintiff was dissatisfied with the decision and filed an appeal. As of November 10, 2021, 
the case is now on trial by Taiwan High Court and a decision shall be announced accordingly. The 
Company believes that, if an unfavorable decision is rendered by the court and if the plaintiff does not 

expand her request before the end of oral argument, the company will suffer no more than $5,640 and the 
statutory deferred interest in this lawsuit. Moreover, as the plaintiff has not submitted any other evidence 

(documents other than those provided in the first trial) as of November 10, 2021, the basis of the first 
instance judgment can hardly be distorted. In the meanwhile, as the second-instance court also doubts on 
the legal basis of plaintiff’s assertion about the Company’s infringement, the court of second instance is 
expected to uphold the first instance ruling based on the litigation progress and both parties’ offense and 
defense status.  

 
B. Commitments 

Being authorized to use the testing techniques, the Group shall pay the royalty based on the number of 
testing reports each quarter. 

 

10. Significant Disaster Loss  
None.  

 
11. Significant Events After Reporting Period  

None 
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12. Others 
A. Capital management 

The Group’s objectives on managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to maintain an optimal capital structure, to reduce the cost of capital and to provide 
returns for shareholders. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 

amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return of capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets 
to reduce debts. The Group uses debt asset ratio to monitor the capital thereof and the ratio is calculated 

by dividing total liabilities by total assets. 
The Group's strategy in 2021 remains the same as in 2020. At September 30, 2021, December 31, 2020 
and September 30, 2020, the Group’s debt asset ratio was 29%, 26% and 33%, respectively. 

 
B. Financial instruments 

a. Financial instruments by category 
 

 September 30, 
2021  

December 31, 
2020  

September 30, 
2020 

Financial assets      
Financial assets at Amortized cost      

Cash and cash equivalents $ 195,838  $ 188,849  $     163,505 
Financial assets at Amortized cost 30,200  30,200  30,200 
Current contract assets 8,851  6,456  4,959 
Notes receivable, net 5,827  7,580  11,678 
Accounts receivable, net (including 

those from related parties) 53,296  48,283  57,011 
Other receivables 22  12  22 
Guarantee deposits paid   6,196    5,892   5,872 

 $ 300,230  $ 287,272  $    273,247 

      
Financial liabilities      

Financial liabilities at amortized cost      
Notes payable (including those from 

related parties) $ 3,611  $ 3,921  $ 3,838 
Accounts payable (including those 

from related parties) 41,017  46,522  38,423 
Other payables 38,597  37,988  38,022 
Other non-current liabilities       

 -Guarantee deposits received  -   2   2 
 $ 83,225  $  88,433  $     80,285 

Current and non-current lease liabilities $  89,803  $ 101,100  $     104,825 

 

b. Financial risk management policies 
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign 

exchange risk, price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Risk management is 
carried out by the Group’s finance division under policies approved by the board of directors. The 
division identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks. 
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c. Significant financial risks and degree of financial risks 
i. Market risk  

(a) Foreign exchange risk 
(i) The Group’s businesses involve some non-functional currency operations (the 

Group’s functional currency is New Taiwan Dollar). The information on assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies whose values would be materially 
affected by the exchange rate fluctuations is as follows: 

 
 September 30, 2021 
 (Foreign currency 

(in thousands)  
Exchange 

rate  
Book value 

(NTD) 
(Foreign currency: functional 
currency)   
Financial assets   
   Monetary items   

HKD:NTD 425 3.576 $    1,520 
RMB:NTD 244 4.305 1,050 
THB:NTD 12,670 0.828 10,491 
USD:NTD 73 27.85 2,033 

Financial liabilities   
   Monetary items   

USD:NTD 115 27.85 3,203 

 
 December 31, 2020 
 (Foreign currency 

(in thousands)  
Exchange 

rate  
Book value 

(NTD) 
(Foreign currency: functional 
currency)  
Financial assets  

 Monetary items  
HKD:NTD 425 3.673 $    1,561
RMB:NTD 244 4.377 1,068
THB:NTD 9,097 0.956 8,697
USD:NTD 114 28.48 3,247

Financial liabilities  
 Monetary items  

USD:NTD 124 28.48 3,532
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 September 30, 2020 
 (Foreign currency 

(in thousands)  
Exchange 

rate  
Book value 

(NTD) 
(Foreign currency: functional 
currency)  
Financial assets  
   Monetary items  

HKD:NTD 425 3.754  $ 1,595 
RMB:NTD 243 4.269  1,037 
THB:NTD 6,544 0.924  6,047 
USD:NTD 80 29.10  2,328 

Financial liabilities     
   Monetary items     

USD:NTD 154 29.10  4,481 
 

(ii) The total exchange gain, including realized and unrealized gains arising from 
significant foreign exchange variations on monetary items held by the Group for the 
for the quarters ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 and as at September 30, 2021 

and 2020, amounted to ($646)、($240)、($1,761) and ($385), respectively. 

(iii) Analysis of foreign current market risk arising from significant foreign exchange 
variations: 

 
 As of September 30, 2021 
 Sensitivity analysis 
 Change in 

exchange 
rate  

Effect on 
profit (loss)  

Effect on other 
comprehensive 

income 
(Foreign currency: functional 
currency)  
Financial assets  

Monetary items  
       HKD:NTD 1%  $    15 $        -
       RMB:NTD 1%  11 -
       THB:NTD 1%  105 -
       USD:NTD 1%  20 -
Financial liabilities  
   Monetary items  
       USD:NTD 1%  (32 ) -
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 As of September 30, 2020  
 Sensitivity analysis 
 Change in 

exchange 
rate  

Effect on 
profit (loss)  

Effect on other 
comprehensive 

income 
(Foreign currency: functional 
currency)  
Financial assets  

Monetary items  
       HKD:NTD 1% $    16 $         - 
       RMB:NTD 1% 10 - 
       THB:NTD 1% 60 - 
       USD:NTD 1% 23 - 
Financial liabilities  
   Monetary items  
       USD:NTD 1% ( 45 ) - 

 
(b) Price risk  

No price risk is involved in the Group’s transactions. 
(c) Interest rate risk on cash flow and fair value  

As the Group has no (‘zero’) long-term and short-term debt at September 30, 2021, 
December 31, 2020 and September 30, 2020. No interest rate risk is involved.  

ii. Credit risk 
(a) Credit risk refers to the risk of financial loss to a Group arising from default by the 

customers on the contract obligations. According to internal credit policy, the Group shall 
manage each of their new customers before service terms and conditions are offered. 

Internal risk control assesses a customer’s credit quality according to the financial status 
thereof, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set by finance division 

based on internal or external ratings and individual’s line of credit shall be regularly 
monitored. The primary credit risks come from deposits at banks and financial institutions, 
and unrealized contract assets, notes payable and accounts receivable from customers. 

(b) The Group manages their credit risk taking into consideration the entire group’s concern. 
According to the Group’s credit policy, each local entity in the Group is responsible for 
managing and analyzing the credit risk for each of their new customers before standard 
payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Internal risk control assesses the 
credit quality of the customers, taking into account their financial position, past 

experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external 
ratings in accordance with limits set by the management. The utilization of credit limits 

is regularly monitored. 
(c) The Group adopts the following assumption after considering the past experience: If the 

contract payments were past due over 30 days based on the terms, there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk on that instrument since initial recognition. If the 
contract payments are past due over 360 days based on agreed terms and conditions, it 
will be deemed as violating the contract. 
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(d) With respect to customers’ accounts receivable and contract assets, the Group adopts the 
simplified approach to estimate expected credit loss. Under the provision matrix basis. 

(e) Where contract violation occurs, the Group will take legal recourse for financial assets to 
preserve the Group’s creditor’s rights.  After recourse proceedings, financial assets that 
cannot be taken back within reasonable expectations shall be written off. 

(f) The Group adjusts the loss rate based on historical and current information when assessing 
the future default possibility in order to estimate the loss allowance for contract assets, 

notes receivable and accounts receivable (including those from related parties). The 
provision matrix is as follows: 

 

  Not past due  

Due in 1 to 30 

days  

Due in 31 to 

90 days  

Due in 91 to 

180 days  

Due in 181 to 

360 days  

Due in more 

than 360 days  Total 

September 30, 2021    

Expected loss rate  

0.02%

0.03% 3.00% 

3.02%

~3.53%

28.74% 

~76.12% 

91.29% 

~100.00%  100.00%  

Current contract assets  $   8 ,851 $         - $         - $         - $         -  $         -  $     8,851

Notes payable  5,827 - - - -  -  5,827

Accounts receivable       50,565   2,333  493 1 -  -  53,392

otal carrying amount  $    65,243 $    2,333 $      493 $        1 $        -  $        -  $    68,070

Loss allowance  $       10 $       69 $       17 $        - $        -  $        -  $      96

 

  Not past due  

Due in 1 to 

30 days  

Due in 31 to 

90 days  

Due in 91 to 

180 days  

Due in 181 

to 360 days  

Due in more 

than 360 

days  Total 

December 31, 2020               

Expected loss rate  

0.03% 

~0.26%  10.57%  

26.90% 

~37.11%  

57.82% 

~100.00%  100.00%  100.00%   

Current contract assets  $   6,456  $       -  $        -  $         -  $         -  $         -  $   6,456 

Notes payable  7,580  -  -  -  -  -  7,580 

Accounts receivable  47,196         47  1,643        14      -  115  49,015 

Total carrying amount  $   61,232  $        47  $  1,643  $      14  $         -  $       115  $   63,051 

Loss allowance  $      118  $       5  $    485  $       9  $         -  $       115  $ 732 

 

  Not past due  

Due in 1 to 

30 days  

Due in 31 to 

90 days  

Due in 91 to 

180 days  

Due in 181 

to 360 days  

Due in more 

than 360 

days  Total 

September 30, 2020               

Expected loss rate  

0.03% 

~0.47%  3.86%  

42.26% 

~57.89%  

67.26% 

~100.00%    100.00%  100.00%   

Current contract assets  $  4 ,959  $        -  $        -  $        -  $        -  $        -  $  4 ,959 

Notes payable  11,678  -  -  -  -  -  11,678 

Accounts receivable  56,145       1,102  356       3  3  115  57,724 

Total carrying amount  $   72,782  $    1,102  $      356  $       3  $        3  $      115  $    74,361 

Loss allowance  $      277  $     150  $     166  $       2  $        3  $      115  $      713 

 
Above is the aging analysis of accounts receivable based on the number of overdue day. 
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(g) Under the simplified approach, movements in relation to loss allowance for notes 

receivable, accounts receivable (including those from related parties) and contract assets 
are as follows: 

 
  2021  

  
Contract 

assets  
Notes 

receivable  
Accounts 
receivable  Total  

At January 1  $       -  $        -  $     732  $   732  

Expected credit impairment loss (gain)  
            

-  
            

-  
         

(      545)  
           

(    545)  
Amount written off due to uncollectible  -  -  (       91)  (     91)  
September 30  $       -  $         -  $       96  $     96  
          
  2020  

  
Contract 

assets  
Notes  

receivable  
Accounts 
receivable  Total  

At January 1  $       -  $        -  $    1,080  $  1,080  

Expected credit impairment loss (gain)  
             

-  
             

-  
   

(     367)  (    367)  
September 30  $       -  $         -  $      713  $   713  

 
iii. Liquidity risk  

(a) Cash flow forecasting is performed by the Group’s finance division. The division also 
monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient 
cash to meet operational needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn 

committed borrowing facilities at all times so that the Group does not breach borrowing 
limits or covenants (where applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities. These forecasts 

take into account the company's debt financing plans, compliance with debt terms and 
compliance with the financial ratio targets specified in the internal balance sheet  

(b) Surplus cash held over and above balance required for working capital management are 

invested in interest bearing current accounts, choosing instruments with appropriate 
maturities to provide sufficient headroom as determined by the abovementioned forecasts.  

(c) The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities: 
 

  
September 30, 

2021  December 31, 2020  
September 30, 

2020  
Floating rate        

Expiring within one year  $ 65,000  $ 95,000  $      95,000  

 
Note: The borrowing facilities that expire within one year is counted as annual 

borrowing facilities, where the amount thereof for 2021 will be discussed separately. 
 
(d) The Group does not have derivative financial liabilities. Non-derivative financial 

liabilities shall be categorized according to their respective due date and be analyzed 
according to the remaining period between the balance sheet date and contract expiry date. 
Except for those stated in the table below, all of the Group’s financial liabilities will be 
due within one year and the contractual undiscounted cash flow is equivalent to the 
amount listed on the balance sheets. For the undiscounted cash flow of other non-
derivative financial liabilities, please refer to the table below: 
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September 30, 2021 

1Within 1 year  1 to 2 years  
More than 2 

years  Total 
Non-derivative financial liabilities:    

Current and non-current lease 
liabilities $ 16,572 $ 13,552  $ 65,304 $ 95,428 

    
December 31, 2020 

1Within 1 year  1 to 2 years  
More than 2 

years  Total 
Non-derivative financial liabilities:    

Current and non-current lease 
liabilities $ 17,130 $ 16,068  $ 74,834 $ 108,032 

       
September 30, 2020 

1Within 1 year  1 to 2 years  
More than 2 

years  Total 
Non-derivative financial liabilities:       

Current and non-current lease 
liabilities $ 17,124 $ 16,525  $ 78,564 $ 112,213 

 
 

C. Fair value information 

None of the Group’s major financial instruments is measured at fair value. The valuation techniques used 
to measure fair value do not result in any impact to the Group. Besides, financial instruments that are not 
measured at fair value include the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, current financial assets 
at amortized cost, current contract assets, net notes receivable, net accounts receivable (including those 
from related parties), other receivables, other non-current assets (guarantee deposits paid), Notes payable 
(including those from related parties), accounts payable(including those from related parties), other 
payables and other non-current liabilities (guarantee deposits received), which are considered as 
reasonable approximation of fair value. 

D.  Other matters 

Due to the pandemic of COVID-19 and the government’s promotion of disaster prevention and control 
policies, the Group has adopted a number of measures, including staff diversion, work from home and 

adopting of digital instruments. The Group’s 2021 Q3 financial status and operations were therefore not 
impacted by the pandemic.  

 
13. Additional Disclosures 

(1) Significant transactions information 

A. Loans to others: Please refer to Annex 1 

B. Provision of endorsement and guarantees to others: None.  

C. Holding of marketable securities at the end of the period (not including subsidiaries, associates and 
joint ventures): None.  

D. Acquisition or sale of the same security with the accumulated cost exceeding $300 million or 20% 

of the Company’s paid-in capital: None.  

E. Acquisition of real estate reaching $300 million or 20% of paid-in capital or more: None. 

F. Disposal of real estate reaching $300 million or 20% of paid-in capital or more: None. 

G. Purchase or sales of goods from or to related parties reaching $100 million or 20% of paid-in capital 

or more: None. 
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H. Receivables from related parties reaching $100 million or 20% of paid-in capital or more: None. 

I. Trading in derivative instruments: None. 

J. Significant inter-company transactions during the reporting periods: Please refer to Annex 2.  

(2) Information on investees  

Names, locations and other information of investee companies (not including investees in Mainland 

China): Please refer to Annex 3. 

(3) Information on investments in Mainland China 
None. 

(4) Major shareholders information 

Major shareholders information: Please refer to Annex IV. 

14. Operating Segments 

(1) General information 

The Group’s operations are limited to one industry only. Besides, the Group’s management evaluate the 
Group’s overall performance and allocate resources accordingly. The Group has been identified as having 
only one single reportable segment. 

(2) Segment information 

The income (loss) of the Group’s operating segments are measured with profit before income tax and is 
used as the basis for performance evaluation. 

(3) Disclosure of segment income (loss), assets and liabilities  

As the Group has only one single reportable segment, information on the segment’s income (loss), assets 
and liabilities and the amount of its Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and Consolidated 
Balance Sheets shall be measured on the same basis. Besides, the accounting policy and estimations of 
the reportable segment are identical with ‘Summary of Significant Accounting Policies’ (Note 4) and 
‘Critical Accounting Judgement and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty’ (Note 5). 

 (4) Reconciliation for segment income (loss)/ assets and other related information  

A. As the Group has only one single reportable segment, external revenue and comprehensive income 
related information that is provided to the chief operating decision maker and the amounts of 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income shall be measured on the same basis. Besides, 

the reportable segment’s income (loss) is the pre-tax income (loss), where no reconciliation is 
required.  

B. As the Group has only one single reportable segment, the Group’s total assets and liabilities amounts 
that are provided to the chief operating decision maker and the assets on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets shall be measured on the same basis. Besides, the reportable segment’s assets is equivalent to 
the Group’s total assets, where no reconciliation is required.  
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Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Loans to Others 

As at September 30, 2021 

(Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars, unless otherwise specified) 
 

No. 
(Note 

1) 
Financing 
company Counterparty 

Financial 
statement 
account 

Related 
party 

Maximum 
balance for 
the period 

Ending 
balance 

Drawn 
amount 

Interest 
rate 

collars 

Nature 
of 

financing
Trading 
amount 

Reasons for 
short-term 
financing 

Allowance 
for bad debt 

Collateral 

Maximum 
amount 

permitted to 
a single 

borrower 
(Note 2) 

Aggregate 
financing 

limit 
(Note 2) RemarksItem Value 

0 Sofiva 
Genomics 
Co. Ltd. 

SOFIVA 
GENOMICS 
BANGKOK 
CO., LTD. 

Receivables 
from 

related 
party 

Y $ 4,970 $ 4,970 $ 4,970 1.55 % Short-
term 

financing 
fund 

$ - Repayments 
of debts and 

business 
turnover 

$ - - $ - $ 226,896 $ 226,896 Note 3 

 
Note 1: The description of the column is as follows:  

(1) Parent: 0. 
(2) Subsidiaries: are numbered by company starting from 1.  

Note 2: For financing with the purpose of business contacts, the aggregate financing limit and maximum amount permitted to a single borrower shall not exceed 40% of the Company’s net value.  

Note 3: On December 30, 2020, the proposal of loaning THB6,000,000 to SOFIVA GENOMICS BANGKOK CO., LTD. was approved by board of directors and the actually used loan amount was THB6,000,000, which will be due on 
December 30, 2021. The amount is presented with the ratio of THB:NTD = 1:0.8284 
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Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Intercompany Relationships and Significant Intercompany Transactions 

As at September 30, 2021 

(Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars, unless otherwise specified) 
Annex 2 

    Transaction details 

No. 
(Note 1) Investee company Counterparty Relationship Financial statement accounts Amount Payment terms 

% of total sales or assets 
(Note 2) 

0 Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. SOFIVA GENOMIC BANGKOK 
CO.,LTD. Subsidiary Revenue from testing services $   4,497 Note 3 1.17% 

0 Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. SOFIVA GENOMIC BANGKOK 
CO.,LTD. Subsidiary Accounts receivable      980 OA60 days 0.13% 

1 Phoebus Genetics Co.,. Ltd. Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. Parent company Revenue from testing services    16,735 Note 3 4.37% 
1 Phoebus Genetics Co.,. Ltd. Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. Parent company Accounts receivable     3,010 OA60 days 0.40% 
2 SOFIVA GENOMICS Medical 

Laboratory 
Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. 

Parent company Revenue from the rendering of services    14,680 Note 3 3.83% 

2 SOFIVA GENOMICS Medical 
Laboratory 

Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. 
Parent company Accounts receivable     5,658 OA60 days 0.75% 

 
 
Note 1: Transactions between the parent company and subsidiaries shall be marked in the in the field of “No.”. The numbers that shall be filled in are as follow:   

(1) Parent company: “0”. 
(2) Subsidiaries: are numbered starting from “1”. 

Note 2: With respect to the percentage of transaction amount in total revenue or total assets, those that are recognized as assets and liabilities shall be calculated by dividing the end balance 
with the total consolidated assets; those that are recognized as a profit or loss shall be calculated by dividing the amount accumulated in the current interim period by the total 

consolidated revenue. Individual transactions with an amount no greater than 1% of the consolidated revenue or total assets shall not be disclosed. In addition, for those that have been 
disclosed as individual company’s assets, the relative transactions shall no longer be disclosed. 

Note 3: For testing services, no major difference on the price offered to related parties and general customers. 
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Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Information of Investees (excluding those in Mainland China) 

As at September 30, 2021 

 
Annex 3 (Expressed in thousands of New Taiwan dollars, unless otherwise specified) 
 

Investor Investee Location Main business activities 

Original investment amount 
(Note) Balance at the end of the period 

Net income 
(loss) of the 

investee for the 
period 

Investment profit or 
loss recognized in 

the period Remarks 
At the end of 
current period 

At the end 
of last year 

Number of 
shares 

Ownership 
(%) 

Carrying 
amount 

The Company Phoebus Genetics Co.,. Ltd. Taiwan Pre-pregnancy and 
prenatal testing services 
and medical inspection 
services 

$52,000 $52,000 5,200,000 100.00 $ 55,073 $2,484 $2,484  
 

The Company Sofiva Genomics Bangkok 
Co.,Ltd. 

Thailand Pre-pregnancy and 
prenatal testing services 
and medical inspection 
services 

12,677 12,677 13,500 90.00 1,181 (    2,835) (    2,552)  

The Company DIANTHUS Company 
Limited  

Taiwan Medical service 
management 

148,250 148,250 14,825,000 18.42 246,642 116,304 21,423  

 
 
 
Note: Disclosed with historical exchange rates. 
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Sofiva Genomics Co. Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Information on Major Shareholders 

September 30, 2021 

Annex 4 
 

 Shares  

Name of major shareholders No. of shares (ordinary shares) No. of shares (special shares) Shareholding ratio Remarks 

PHOEBUS GENETECH CO., LTD. 2,428,500 - 11.42%  

Ya La Investment Co., Ltd. 1,598,000 - 7.51%  
Shih Wei Investment Co., Ltd. 1,348,200 - 6.34%  
Hua Ruei Investment Co., Ltd. 1,312,000 - 6.17%  
 
 
Note 1: The above table discloses the information on stockholders with over 5% ownership of the Corporation on the last business day as of the end of the reporting period. The percentage 

of ownership was calculated by the Taiwan Depository & Clearing Corporation (TDCC) based on the number of common stock and preferred stock, including treasury stock, 
registered by the Corporation through the delivering of non-physical securities to TDCC. The number of issued capital stock recorded in the consolidated financial statements may 
be different from the actual number of stocks registered by the Corporation through the delivering of non-physical securities to TDCC due to the difference in the calculation basis. 

Note 2: If a shareholder delivers the shareholdings to the trust, the above information will be disclosed by the individual trustee who opened the trust account. For shareholders who declare 
insider shareholdings with ownership greater than 10% in accordance with the Security and Exchange Act, the shareholdings include shares held by shareholders and those delivered 

to the trust over which shareholders have rights to determine the use of trust property. For information relating to insider shareholding declaration, please refer to Market Observation 
Post System. 

 
 

 


